
 

 

Agenda - Health and Social Care Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Hybrid – Committee Room 5, Ty Hywel  

and video conference via Zoom  

Meeting date: 16 January 2025 

Meeting time: 09.30

For further information contact: 

Sarah Beasley 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddHealth@senedd.wales
------ 

Private pre-meeting  

(09.00-09.30) 

Public meeting  

(09.30 - 12.15) 

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions, and declarations of 

interest. 

(09.30)   

2 Welsh Government draft budget 2025-26: evidence session with 

the Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Care; the Minister for 

Children and Social Care and the Minister for Mental Health and 

Wellbeing. 

 (Pages 1 - 78)  

Jeremy Miles MS - Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Care 

Dawn Bowden MS - Minister for Children and Social Care 

Sarah Murphy MS - Minister for Mental Health and Wellbeing  

 

Sioned Rees - Temporary Public Health Protection Director  

Albert Heaney - Chief Social Care Officer for Wales  

Alex Slade - Director of Primary Care, Mental Health and Early Years   

Hywel Jones - Director of Finance   

Nick Wood - Deputy Chief Executive NHS Wales   

 

Research brief 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



 

 

Paper 1 – Welsh Government draft budget paper  

3 Paper(s) to note 

(12:15)   

3.1 Letter from Chair to Welsh Government to inform scrutiny of the Draft Budget 

2025-26. 

 (Pages 79 - 82)  

3.2 Letter from Chair of Petitions Committee to Cabinet Secretary for Finance re. 

Petition P-06-1400 on fair and adequate resourcing of General Practice in 

Wales. 

 (Pages 83 - 87)  

3.3 Letter from Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Care re the Welsh 

Ambulance Services University NHS Trust (WASUT). 

 (Pages 88 - 89)  

3.4 Letter from Andrew RT Davies MS re surgical mesh. 

 (Page 90)  

3.5 Letter from the Minister for Children and Social Care re. amendments tabled 

during Stage 2 scrutiny of the Health and Social Care (Wales) Bill. 

 (Pages 91 - 95)  

3.6 Letter from Chief Executive of Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board to the 

Petitions Committee re. Petition P-06-1350: Re-open Dyfi Ward at Tywyn 

Hospital. 

 (Pages 96 - 99)  

3.7 Letter from the Chief Executive of Tenovus Cancer Care re the proposed 

increase in employer National Insurance Contributions (NIC). 

 (Pages 100 - 101)  

3.8 Letter from Jane Dodds MS re proposal for an inquiry into gambling- related 

harm in Wales. 

 (Pages 102 - 103)  



 

 

3.9 Letter from the Chair of Petitions Committee re. Petition P-06-1480: Make 

menopause a mandatory part of the curriculum for all healthcare sciences 

and medical students. 

 (Pages 104 - 105)  

4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 (vi) to resolve to exclude the 

public from the remainder of this meeting. 

(12.15)   

Private meeting  

(12.15 - 12.45) 

5 Welsh Government draft budget 2025-26: consideration of 

evidence 

(12.15-12.45)   



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This document is a response the Health and Social 
Care Committee’s request for information to inform 
scrutiny of the Draft Budget 2025-26. 

Welsh Government 

Health and Social Care 
Committee’s request for 
evidence 
Evidence to inform the scrutiny 
of the Draft Budget 2025-26 
December 2024 

www.gov.wales 

HSC(6) 45-25  Paper 1 

Pack Page 28



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

2 

Contents 

1. Prioritisation .................................................................................................. 4 

Unavoidable Demand Growth & Inflation ..................................................................................................... 5 
Savings Assumptions ...................................................................................................................................................... 6 
Allocation of funding for 2025-26 ........................................................................................................................ 6 
Other Budget changes in the HSC MEG ......................................................................................................... 7 

2. Waiting times ................................................................................................ 9 

Comparing September 2024 referral to treatment (RTT) data to March 2024 ........... 10 

3. Mental health .............................................................................................. 12 

Mental health and suicide prevention strategy ...................................................................................... 12 
Improving access to services and outcomes ............................................................................................. 13 

4. Workforce ..................................................................................................... 14 

5. Primary care ................................................................................................. 16 

6. Service transformation ............................................................................ 18 

Referral management.................................................................................................................................................. 18 
Outpatient transformation projects ................................................................................................................. 19 
Theatre productivity ...................................................................................................................................................... 19 
High Volume Low Complexity Surgery .......................................................................................................... 19 
Eye care pathway redesign .................................................................................................................................... 20 
Implementation of waiting well services - the ‘three Ps’ .............................................................. 20 
Digital pathology developments ...................................................................................................................... 20 

7. Prevention ................................................................................................... 22 

Health And Social Care Regional Integration Fund ........................................................................... 23 
Vaccinations ........................................................................................................................................................................ 24 
Screening ............................................................................................................................................................................... 25 

8. Estates and infrastructure .................................................................... 26 

Digital, Innovation & Technology ........................................................................................................................ 27 

9. Health inequalities I ................................................................................. 29 

Flying Start............................................................................................................................................................................ 29 
Speech, Language & Communication .......................................................................................................... 30 
Families First Programme ....................................................................................................................................... 30 

Pack Page 29



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

3 

10. Health inequalities II ................................................................................. 31 

11. Women’s health ........................................................................................ 33 

12. Assessing impact/value for money .................................................... 35 

NHS ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 35 
Flying Start............................................................................................................................................................................ 36 
Social Care ............................................................................................................................................................................ 36 

13. Health board’s financial performance and planning ................. 39 

Update on financial position of Local Health Boards 2024-25 ................................................. 40 
Statutory Break-Even Duty 2022-23 to 2024-25 .................................................................................... 43 
Additional in-year financial support 2024-25 .......................................................................................... 43 
Local Health Board allocations for 2025-26 .............................................................................................. 44 
Welsh Government support ................................................................................................................................... 44 

14. Social Care ................................................................................................... 46 

Additional funding 2025-26 .................................................................................................................................. 47 
Ensuring ongoing viability and stability of services ............................................................................ 47 
Unpaid carers ..................................................................................................................................................................... 48 
Sustainability of social care workforce .......................................................................................................... 48 

 

 

Pack Page 30



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

4 

1. Prioritisation  

Details of the approach taken by Welsh Government to 
prioritise areas of spending, across the whole budget 
and within health and social care.  
The Cabinet Secretary for Finance, Constitution and Cabinet Office 
has said the next Welsh Government budget will “once again be very 
challenging, and we will have to focus on our most important 
priorities, and there simply won't be enough money to meet all of the 
pressures that we face”. 

 
Response:  

The Draft Budget for 2025-26 has been framed around key priorities in areas 
identified by Cabinet as being critical for delivery. For the Health & Social Care 
(HSC) MEG our priority is ‘Iechyd da’ - A Healthier Wales. 
 
There is £435m of additional Resource funding and £175m of additional Capital 
funding for the HSC MEG to assist in the ongoing work to reduce long NHS 
waiting times, improve access and improve services for women’s health. This is 
building on the additional funding already agreed for 2024-25.  
 
The Housing and Local Government MEG is receiving an increase to boost access 
to social care via the Revenue Support Grant to Local Authorities (RSG). 
 
The published Draft Budget Table illustrates a total increase in Resource funding 
of £921.73m. This includes £447.65m of baseline adjustments relating to pay and 
pension increases for 2024-25 and an increase in funding for 2025-26 of 
£474.08m.  
 
The increase for 2025-26 is split between £435m for Fiscal Resource and £38.2m 
for Non-Fiscal Resource. The Final Budget for 2024-25 is restated and includes the 
additional £447.65m before the additional funding for 2025-26 is added in to 
show the Draft Budget Plan figure for 2025-26. 
  
The table below shows the breakdown of the additional Resource funding for the 
Health & Social Care (HSC) main expenditure group (MEG): 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 31



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

5 

£m  
    11,318.693   Final Budget Restated Sept 2024  

312.500 NHS Pay Funding for 2023-24 and 2024-25 

134.000 Pension Increases (SCAPE) Funding for 2024-25 

1.150 Pay and Pensions – Non-NHS additional allocations 

   11,766.343   2025-26 Revised Baseline  

0.880 MEG to MEG transfer from Local Gov MEG 

435.000 Additional Revenue Allocation for 2025-26 

38.200 Non-Cash increases (Depreciation & IFRS 16 adjs) 

  12,240.423   2025-26 Draft Budget Plans   
 
Taken together, the increase in funding over the last two years in health and social 
care is over £880m or eight per cent, with the majority of this supporting 
workforce pay. 
 
The approach to this budget has been to ensure that the NHS is supported with a 
settlement for pay and inescapable demand growth and inflation, that is 
sustainable and will enable the delivery of balanced plans for 2025-26. This is 
essential in order for the NHS to be able to deliver on improvements in 
performance, outcomes and financial plans. Part of these plans will be the actions 
being taken to support the key deliverables of ‘Iechyd da’ – A Healthier Wales. 

Unavoidable Demand Growth & Inflation 

Officials have undertaken an assessment and challenge on the assumptions 
associated with the cost of unavoidable demand growth, and inescapable 
inflationary pressures in the NHS. 

It is crucial that sufficient funding is given to the NHS to meet inescapable costs, 
alongside stretching savings expectations. These costs will materialise. Not 
providing sufficient funding to meet inescapable costs in the NHS, having 
considered stretching savings and efficiency assumptions, will impact on the 
system’s ability to deliver both financially, and in performance and outcomes. 

It is also important to recognise that the ambition and expectation of 
performance improvement from additional funding will only materialise if this is 
supplementary to sufficient funding being made available to “keep the wheels on” 
existing services. 

The unavoidable demand growth and inescapable inflationary pressures have 
been considered carefully in setting our planning assumptions.  The NHS in Wales 
will, again, be set challenging savings targets and a range of actions will be 
required to deliver balanced plans for 2025-26. 

Pack Page 32



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

6 

Savings Assumptions 

Based on the principles and assumptions outlined above, NHS bodies will need to 
deliver the £70m non-recurrent actions in 2024-25 again in 2025-26. In addition, it 
is assumed that the NHS will deliver a £150m, or circa 1.4 per cent savings on a 
recurrent basis. 

Combined, this £220m savings expectation will be a circa two per cent savings 
target against total expenditure budgets. This is consistent with the two per cent 
expectation set by UK Government of savings and productivity across 
departments, but greater than the historic Nuffield and Health Foundation 
assessment of circa 1.5 per cent being a realistic savings and efficiency 
expectation. 

This is in addition to the NHS having delivered record levels of savings of £260m in 
2023-24, and forecast saving delivery in 2024-25 now being at £267m.  

The actions to deliver this level of savings requirement will be more challenging 
given the progress made in recent years. Therefore, whilst there remains some 
opportunity for improvement this is at a reduced scale than previously, and 
without material investment in transformation to drive additional savings delivery. 

The settlement to the NHS for 2025-26 will be considered alongside how the 
funding being retained within the MEG for 2024-25 (the £168m) is allocated on a 
recurrent basis. This will support the drive to sustained improvement, balanced 
plans, and make progress on the financial agenda. This allocation is being 
progressed alongside the funding settlement for 2025-26, to support inescapable 
cost increases. As individual Health Board positions improve through that 
framework, actions must be delivered by those Health Boards in greatest deficit to 
deliver on a balanced MEG. This is a key condition that is being set out within this 
approach. 
 

Allocation of funding for 2025-26  

Health and social care continues to be prioritised in 2025-26 with additional 
Resource funding of £435m, as well as £175m of additional Capital funding. This is 
on top of the extra funding provided for the NHS in 2024-25.  

Of the £435m Resource uplift, more than £400m of this will support a range of 
additional allocations to the NHS, including activity to continue reducing the 
longest waiting times and improving timely access to care and treatment. It will 
also support a 2025-26 pay award for the workforce, building on the additional 
funding provided in 2024-25. 

In addition to the core support for frontline NHS services, we will be investing over 
£20m in workforce training which will include ongoing support for the expansion 
of the North Wales medical school and additional post graduate medical and 
dental training places. 

Pack Page 33



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

7 

In line with the Iechyd Da priorities, we will provide £3m towards improving 
healthcare for women, in line with the milestones set out in Wales’ first Women’s 
Health Plan, which is published on 10 December 2024. 

Recognising the importance of preventative health investments, we are increasing 
allocations to screening and vaccination programmes by £3m. This helps to ensure 
we identify some health issues earlier and, in the case of vaccination, prevent 
more serious illness later on.  

We will also maintain the mental health ringfence, in the main NHS allocation 
and this will be over £820m for 2025-26. 

We are allocating £3m to support the hospice sector in 2025-26. This funding will 
be recurrent, because we recognise the important role they play in supporting the 
NHS and all those who need end-of-life care. 

We are also investing an additional £20m to support our flagship Childcare Offer, 
which will provide a vital increase to the hourly rate paid to providers. This will 
help ensure the sustainability of the sector, support the workforce and improve 
settings and parental choice. 

On capital, our increase of £175m includes £60m which will need to be directed at 
supporting the implications of IFRS 16, the accounting standard for leases. An 
additional £115m will be available to allocate for maintaining and improving the 
NHS estate and driving NHS productivity, by investing in new equipment and 
digital technology. The total capital budget rises to £614m for 2025-26. 

Outside of the HSC MEG, Social Care is being directly supported by local 
authorities. In 2025-26, the revenue support grant (RSG) in the Local Government 
MEG, will be increased by £235m to reflect the additional pressures being 
experienced by local authorities.   

The HSC MEG supports Social Care directly via a series of funds and grants, 
including more than £140m of directed funding, which will be maintained in 
2025-26. This includes maintaining the existing support for the Eliminate 
programme. Our funding for regional partnership boards is also maintained and 
includes schemes to reduce delayed discharges and improve community-based 
provision. 
 

Other Budget changes in the HSC MEG 

Included in our budget for 2025-26 is a £38.2m increase in non-cash funding, 
covering such items as depreciation costs.  

The decrease in the Annually Managed Expenditure (AME) budget relates to the 
latest assessment of budget cover needed for such things as expected 
movements in impairments and provisions, mainly in the NHS.  

Pack Page 34



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

8 

We have one example of a MEG to MEG transfer where a social care grant of 
£0.880m is moving out of the Revenue Support Grant in the Local Government 
MEG and back to the Social Care budgets within the HSC MEG. 

It is also worth noting that the Draft budget table for 2025-26 contains a relatively 
high number of budget movements within the MEG. These simply reflect the 
process of maintaining our budgets and making sure funding is in the correct 
place, reducing the administrative burden of issuing this funding in-year. 

 

 

Pack Page 35



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

9 

2. Waiting times 

Allocations to support the programme for 
transforming and modernising planned care and 
reducing NHS waiting lists. 
 

Response: 

A recurrent annual investment of £170m to NHS Wales was made in 2022 to 
support the national commitment to reduce delays in treatment and recover from 
the pandemic. 

The Transforming and Modernising Planned Care Recovery Plan was issued in 
April 2022, setting out the approach to waiting times recovery and transformation 
of planned care services. 

Throughout 2023-24 we saw we saw consecutive monthly reductions in the 
number of open pathways waiting over 104 weeks up until March 2024. The 
waiting list size continued to grow through this period at a rate of 4.7 per cent, this 
trend has continued through 2024-25. 

The total number of open pathways waiting over 104 weeks at the end of March 
2024 was 20,636, the lowest point since the recovery plan was issued. 

Since April 2024, we have seen a growth in the number of waits over 104 weeks, 
although the longest waiting times have been gradually reducing during this year. 

The number of pathways over 104 weeks is 66 per cent lower than its peak. 

The context for the change in improvement relates to several factors: 

• Total waiting list size March 2024 had increased by 4.7 per cent compared 
to March 2023, this increase has continued though out 2024.   
 

• The trend in outpatient waits over 52 weeks has increased by 15 per cent 
since March 2024 compared to March 2023. 
 

• Referral trends for referral to treatment (RTT) and cancer have increased, 
with overall referrals in the last 12 months to September 2024 increasing by 
6.7 per cent. 
 

Although the All-Wales position has worsened, this is driven by local factors and 
significant variation across Health Boards and specialities. 

We identified seven challenged specialities in the Recovery plan which continues 
to account for a significant proportion of long waits in elective services. These 
seven specialities account for 88 per cent of all long waits over 104 weeks, the 
main challenges being in orthopaedics (25 per cent) and Ophthalmology (22 per 
cent). 

Pack Page 36



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

10 

Betsi Cadwaladr Health board accounts for 43 per cent of all the 104 week waits in 
Wales. 
 

Comparing September 2024 referral to treatment (RTT) data to March 2024 

The focus on outpatient waiting times and demand management approaches at 
Swansea Bay Health Board and Cwm Taff Morgannwg Health Board have seen 
total waiting lists in these health boards decline. 

There has also been progress in some of the challenged specialities and a focus on 
women and young people: 
 

Children and Young People waits: a 2.5 per cent improvement in 2024. 
 

Gynaecology: three health boards have cleared and sustained zero over 104 
week waits and the all-Wales position has shown 27 per cent improvement in 
2024. 
 

ENT: two health boards have cleared and sustained zero over 104 week waits 
and the all-Wales position has shown 17 per cent improvement in 2024. 
 

Urology: the all-Wales position has shown 18 per cent improvement in 2024. 
 

Orthopaedics: the all-Wales position has shown six per cent improvement in 
2024. 
 

Dermatology: five health boards have cleared all over 104 week waits. One 
health board accounts for 98 per cent of all over 104 weeks. They are still 
implementing the Telederm project, which all other health boards have 
implemented. 

It was confirmed that the HSC MEG would receive additional funding from 
Reserves in 2024-25 to support the actions to reduce NHS waiting times. In 
October and November 2024, additional funding of over £50m has been issued to 
the NHS to supported targeted reduction in long waits over two years, diagnostics 
over eight weeks and a specific focus on neurodiversity (ND) pathways. 

The NHS will use the £50m to: 

• Treat 16,000 more people by the end of March 2025. 
 

• Carry out 14,000 extra tests by the end of March 2025. 
 

• Add up to 20,000 more outpatient appointments by the end of March 
2025. 

Pack Page 37



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

11 

 
The funding will pay for more evening and weekend appointments to target the 
longest waits in specialties such as orthopaedics, ophthalmology, general surgery 
and gynaecology. 

£3m of additional funding has been provided to health boards to reduce the 
longest waiting times for children’s neurodivergence (ND) services. It is estimated 
that an additional 2,000 appointments can be delivered across health boards up 
to March 2025. The learning from the ND waiting list reduction plan will be used 
alongside the outcomes of the Children’s neurodivergence services rapid re-
design event held on 27 and 28 November 2024.  This will recognise the critical 
fragility of existing services as a catalyst to developing proposals for new 
assessment and support pathways, whilst also addressing existing waiting list 
pressures.  

Just over £3m has also been targeted to support reduction in diagnostics waits 
across health boards. 

All our health boards have submitted activity plans which will start to deliver in 
November 2024, for statistical reporting in January 2025. 

We have mobilised enhanced capacity solutions through waiting list initiatives 
and contract arrangements with other providers. 

Each health board has clear delivery trajectories which will be reported to the 
Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Care on a monthly basis. 

Further plans are being developed to enhance delivery through the next six to 12 
months. 

We will look to understand how through current additional planned care funding 
together with the transformation fund could support and target actions to 
improve productivity and efficiency. This would help to support any 
recommendations from the Ministerial Advisory Group, in informing our plans to 
deliver continued improvements in planned care next financial year. 

  

Pack Page 38



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

12 

3. Mental health 

A breakdown of allocations to improve mental health 
and wellbeing in Wales, including allocations to: 

• support implementation of the Welsh Government’s new mental 
health and suicide prevention strategies; 
 

• improve access to mental health services and outcomes for both 
adults and children and young people. 
 

Response: 

Mental health and suicide prevention strategy 

We continue to ringfence mental health funding for the NHS and in 2025-26 this 
will be over £820m, thus sustaining our investment in mental health services. We 
have also continued to invest in developments like 111 press 2 to and alternatives to 
admissions which are key components of our future priorities. 
 
We are investing £2.2m annually in the NHS Executive for the Strategic  
Programme for Mental Health which is providing a dedicated resource to NHS 
Wales to drive improvements in performance, quality and safety. This is part of our 
significant programme of work to improve mental health and well-being, for 
instance through our Whole School Approach, NEST/NYTH and our Strategic 
Mental Health Workforce Plan.  
 
Following the publication of our consultation summary reports for the mental 
health and wellbeing and suicide and self-harm prevention strategies , the Welsh 
Government are continuing to develop the final strategies and delivery plans.  
 
As these strategies will set policy direction for the next ten years, it is vital that they 
incorporate the views provided at consultation and reflect the broader policy 
context in which they will operate. In order to achieve this, it is anticipated that 
publication will be aligned with the new 2025-26 financial year. 
 
The strategies have been developed in the current financial context and aim to 
provide direction to the system to better target resources and are not dependent 
on new/additional funding. The published strategy will be accompanied by a 
series of delivery plan, which over the life of the strategy will be renewed and 
refreshed. This will provide the opportunity to identify new investments should the 
economic position change. 
 

Pack Page 39

https://www.gov.wales/draft-mental-health-and-wellbeing-strategy
https://www.gov.wales/draft-mental-health-and-wellbeing-strategy
https://www.gov.wales/draft-suicide-and-self-harm-prevention-strategy


Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

13 

Improving access to services and outcomes 

We have taken an all-age approach to develop both the mental health and 
wellbeing and the suicide and self-harm strategies to ensure we have a system 
which will support everyone, and that it promotes better integration between 
services.  

Whilst it takes an all-age approach, it does draw out where we need a specific 
focus on young people or older adults, and our consultation analysis has provided 
feedback to how we can strengthen this approach. But what is crucial in our 
approach is that our services need to be needs led and person centred. 

As part of the consultation, we also published draft impact assessments and have 
provided the opportunity through the consultation to ask whether it was clear 
about how the Suicide and Self-harm Prevention Strategy and the Mental Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy deliver for all age groups. This information has been used 
to gather further evidence of impact in these areas and is informing the final 
impact assessments and delivery plans/strategies. 

We continue to improve access to mental health support for instance through 111 
press 2 for mental health, online access to cognitive behavioural therapy and 
piloting sanctuaries for children and young people.  

There is a strong association between exposure to childhood adversity and trauma 
and poorer physical and mental health and wellbeing. We will maintain our 
current investment in the development of ACE and trauma-aware services and 
the adoption of trauma-informed practice in 2025-26 (£1m). 

 

Pack Page 40



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

14 

4. Workforce 

Allocations to support implementation of the 10-year 
strategy for the health and social care workforce and 
the national workforce implementation plan, 
including specific reference to retention and staff 
wellbeing. 
 
Response:  

Despite the difficult financial climate, the Minister for Health and Social Services 
announced on the 14 February 2024 that the investment in education and training 
of healthcare professions will be maintained at £283.126m for 2024-25. This will 
support education and training programmes for healthcare professionals in Wales. 
This continues to be a record level of funding and will support the highest ever 
number of training opportunities in Wales.  

The Welsh Government is committed to providing the NHS the workforce it needs 
to meet ever increasing demand. We are achieving this through increasing 
training places, encouraging young people to take up health professions and 
recruiting outside Wales when necessary. 

In 2025-26 we are committing to increase funding by over £20m for NHS 
workforce training, which will include ongoing support for the expansion of the 
North Wales medical school and additional post graduate medical and dental 
training places. 

We provide core funding to Health Education and Improvement Wales (HEIW), our 
statutory workforce body, to deliver key priorities such as improving staff retention 
and taking positive actions to improve staff wellbeing. For example, HEIW have 
this year delivered a National Retention Programme and have invested in 
appointing a Retention Lead in each NHS organisation. The NHS Wales Staff 
Survey is in its second year, the results of which will enable us to monitor progress 
against critical areas that that require improvement and ultimately provide the 
necessary learning to further improve staff health and wellbeing. HEIW also utilise 
their core funding to continue to deliver on the Workforce Strategy for Health and 
Social Care and their assigned actions in the National Workforce Implementation 
Plan. 

In 2016 the then Minister for Health and Social Services agreed to fund a targeted 
incentive scheme for GP Trainees and Core Psychiatry Trainees. The financial 
incentives formed part of a wide suite of actions to deliver the government’s 
commitment to attract and train more GPs and to place general practice on a 
more sustainable footing. 

Pack Page 41



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

15 

The current targeted incentive scheme provides £20,000 to GP trainees who take 
up a training post in north Wales, Ceredigion, Pembrokeshire and Powys, as these 
training schemes have a trend of low fill rates; less than 75 per cent over a five year 
period. Trainees receive £10,000 on commencing their training, with the second 
payment made after they complete one year of practice in the incentivised region 
following completion of their training.  

Running parallel to the decision to continue the targeted incentives scheme for 
the 2025-26 financial year, the former Minister of Health and Social Services also 
agreed a full review and evaluation of the existing schemes should be undertaken 
in 2025 along with recommendations, including options for the next five years. 
Officials are currently in the process of finalising the arrangements for an 
independent review via a procurement process and establishing the review’s 
terms of reference. One of the considerations of the review will be to measure the 
effectiveness of the scheme and determine, given the changing landscape 
whether the scheme is still appropriate and acts as a recruitment and retention 
incentive.  

We are providing £5m central funding to support the delivery of NHS Wales 
international recruitment plans during 2024-25. This funding will support the 
recruitment of approximately 360 registered nurses, 60 registered mental health 
nurses and 30 medics. 

Pack Page 42



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

16 

5. Primary care 

How the budget will support delivery of the Welsh 
Government’s commitment to reform primary care, 
and the shift of more care out of hospitals into primary 
care/community settings. 
 
Response: 

Our vision in A Healthier Wales is for people to access the majority of health and 
care services at or close to home. The Primary Care Model for Wales is our agreed 
approach to achieving that vision.   
 
The Welsh Government hypothecate some funding within the core funding 
allocations made to Health Boards. For example, we set a minimum level of 
funding for each of the services Health Boards typically contract from 
independent providers of General Medical Services, Community Pharmacy, 
General Dental Services and Optometry.   
 
Other specific funding allocated for building capacity in community-based care 
includes: 
 

•  £146.2m Regional Integration Fund. 
 

• £5m for the allied health professional capacity. 
 

• £11.95m for weekend district and end of life nursing capacity and identifying 
those at greater risk of urgent care and agreeing care plans to anticipate 
and reduce that risk or meet that need at home or in the community. 
 

The rebalance of the health and care system away from hospitals and treatment 
towards community-based care and health and wellbeing is a long-standing 
policy aim of the Welsh Government.  
 
It is widely recognised the pace and scale of progress must accelerate in the face 
of the unprecedented challenges and known projected growth in volume of 
population need.  
 
Whilst the stated policy ambition is to increase relative investment into out of 
hospital services, the impact of unavoidable cost growth in terms of inflationary 
pressure, and unavoidable demand growth in areas such as NICE approved 
medicines and treatments is greater in the acute setting. In addition, given the 
scale of the recovery backlog post COVID in relation to planned care, investment is 
being prioritised to addressing these challenges which results in increased 
expenditure in the acute settings. This alongside the need to deliver increased 

Pack Page 43



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

17 

savings and efficiencies to support financial sustainability result in challenges to 
deliver this policy intent and ambition. 
 
Whilst it remains of importance to deliver reforms through Primary and 
Community Care, the investment into contracted services (General Medical 
Services, Community Pharmacy, General Dentistry Services and General 
Opthalmic Services) has been limited to pay awards for staff working in those 
settings. In parallel, the Welsh Government has continued to invest in community 
services; including the Regional Integration Fund, expanding Allied Health 
Professional Capacity and district and end of life nursing services. 
 
The Welsh Government, therefore, has published a refreshed set of actions for A 
Healthier Wales to drive much more rapid and sustained investment in 
community-based services to fully implement the Primary Care Model for Wales.  
 
The 2025-26 NHS Planning Framework identifies building community capacity as 
one of the Welsh Government’s national priorities.    
 
Regional Partnership Boards continue to provide a crucial vehicle through which 
health, social care, housing, third sector and wider partners come together to plan, 
commission and deliver integrated services and system solutions in the 
community. The amended part nine regulations and statutory guidance, laid and 
passed in November 2024 will further strengthen these regional arrangements 
and clarify their role in supporting the development of an Integrated Community 
Care System for Wales. 
 
The Welsh Government is also strengthening how it holds the NHS to account on 
its implementation of the Primary Care Model for Wales. We will demand 
evidence of how Health Boards are accelerating the development of the 60 
Clusters. With a population focus on a place based, neighbourhood care level, 
Clusters are uniquely placed partnership mechanisms to both plan for and deliver 
care that better matches local needs.  
 
At county level, the Pan Cluster Planning Groups (PCPGs) connect Clusters to the 
wider health and social care system partnerships. When supported and enabled 
by health and care system leaders, PCPGs are well positioned to make decisions 
based upon improving population health and can create the environment for 
collaboration to implement the Primary Care Model for Wales. We will demand 
evidence of funding and decisions being delegated to PCPGs.  

 

Pack Page 44



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

18 

6. Service transformation 

How this budget will balance the need to meet 
immediate/short-term pressures (e.g. the waiting 
times backlog, workforce shortages) with longer-term 
service transformation. 
Response: 

In developing the budget approach for the HSC MEG for 2025-26, careful 
consideration has been given to balancing the need to recognise unavoidable 
inflation and demand pressure, deliver improvements in short-term priorities and 
continue to support longer-term service transformation.  

We are continuing with the £15m planned care transformation budget to support 
local and national transformation projects. We have invested in clinically led 
implementation networks across the key specialities who are responsible for 
developing the transformation projects and driving their implementation within 
the NHS organisations, reflecting national policy and guidance.  

From a planned care perspective, £12.5m will support local and national 
transformation projects and £2.5m of the original £15m budget is used to staff the 
Planned Care Programme and clinical leads, who are responsible for developing 
the transformation projects and driving their implementation within the NHS 
organisations, reflecting national policy and guidance. This £2.5m has now been 
transferred to the NHS Executive.  

What is clear from the continued growth in referrals and the size of the waiting list 
is the need for a transformative approach to elective care services this coupled 
with our focus on productivity and efficiency needs to be the approach to any 
further budget investment in 2025-26. 

The NHS Executive which hosts the National Planned Care programme has 
developed an “effective planned care programme” which is utilising the £15m 
planned care transformation programme to support modernisation of services 
and through a clinical implementation approach transform pathways of care. 

This funding has broadly been divided into six areas:  

Referral management  

In 2023-24, two health boards had implemented the pathway alliance 
programme. In 2024-25, six out of seven health boards have signed up to 
implement the pathway alliance work, developing and implementing national 
and locally developed referral pathways. This has seen 191 pathways in place aim to 
have 300 Wales wide pathways agreed for local implementation. An evaluation of 
the system impact on this work is in the process of being completed. The Health 
Boards who were pathfinders for this programme have seen referral rates below 

Pack Page 45



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

19 

the national average and have evidence of cost-effective referral in targeted 
reduced diagnostic testing. 

All health boards are participating in consultant connect an electronic advice and 
guidance service for both planned and urgent care pathways, which has shown 
(April 2023 to March 24) that 52,000 pathways were managed by advice and thus 
diverting away from hospital intervention. This supports the concept of advice and 
guidance keeping care locally where clinically appropriate.   

Outpatient transformation projects 

In September 2024 the total number of outpatient appointments attended 
(includes new, follow ups, pre op assessments and unknown appointments) was 
307,816. This was 8,454 (2.8 per cent) higher than the same month last year and 
43,180 (16.3 per cent) higher than the same month pre-pandemic (September 
2019). The national programme is supporting implementation of innovative 
approaches and initiatives that contribute towards sustainable transformation, 
such as alternative to outpatient follow-up through ‘see on symptom’, patient-
initiated follow-up and looking at straight-to-test pathways. Utilising these 
approaches to maximum effect will enable a more effective pathway and drive 
first outpatient activity. Monthly increases in patient initiated follow up and see on 
symptoms pathways have been seen June to September, but there is still 
significant variation, with total follow-up waiting list fluctuating an overall two per 
cent reduction September 2024 compared to June 2024. 

Theatre productivity 

Building on the Get it Right First Time (GiRFT) work in 2023-24 a national data set 
has been agreed to identify areas to improve productivity, reduce late starts early 
finishes, improving number of cases per list, maximising use of empty slots.  

Average day case rates for general surgery range from 68.2 per cent to 34.7 per 
cent and for all Wales it is 55 per cent (January 2023 - September 2024). If this can 
be increased across all sites this will improve efficiency and reduce requirement 
on inpatient beds. 

Based on GiRFT data, the potential use of fallow theatres across health boards 
would see activity gain opportunities across Wales.  

For ophthalmology, the average length of surgical cases are around 70 minutes 
and currently 20 per cent of theatres finish over 60 minutes before their allotted 
end time (January 2023 to September 2024). Based on over 40,000 cases in the 
same period this could result in an extra 8,000 procedures just by removing early 
finishes over 60 minutes. 

High Volume Low Complexity Surgery 

Each clinical implementation network is championing pathways based on GiRFT 
recommendations for national implementation of high-volume surgical sessions. 
This will support a national approach to increasing capacity and activity in few key 
pathways such as cataract surgery and some general surgery pathways. 
 

Pack Page 46



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

20 

Eye care pathway redesign 

Supporting the implementation of both recovery activity and innovative 
approaches and initiatives specific for eye care, the eye care pathway redesign is 
linking with primary care optometry in support of the new contract arrangements. 
The proposal, which has commenced in quarter three, estimates the transfer of 
35,000 ophthalmology pathways into primary care, freeing capacity in secondary 
care urgent outpatients. 

Implementation of waiting well services - the ‘three Ps’  

All health boards have started to implement their single points of contact to 
provide dedicated resources for people waiting to: 

• Promote healthy behaviour help;  
• Prevent people becoming worse and; 
• Prepare for treatment. 

 
The aim is a reduction of late theatre cancelations due to patient’s health and 
reduce the need for repeat pre-op assessments. This has been evidenced in Hywel 
Dda who have had a single point of contact since 2022. 
 

Digital pathology developments 

 

A. Digital Pathology Breast Ibex AI 

Continuing to build on the benefits of digital pathology by: 

1. extending Breast Ibex AI evaluation to all laboratories across Wales. 

2.  undertaking a pilot study in BCUHB to develop a new AI algorithm to triage 
routine skin histology cases for urgent reporting 

When using AI to prioritise cancer cases, there is better understanding of the 
construction and working of AI platforms when it is developed in-house to meet 
specific challenges.  For example, developing a system where all routine cases will 
be scanned and scrutinised by AI to identify any cases with cellular changes 
suspicious of malignancy and push them into the urgent pathway. 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 47



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

21 

B. Precision medicine 

Realising the benefits of Precision Medicine and informing a future funding and 
delivery model for increasing indications of targeted therapies. 

Costs: Year one £150,000 up to £200,000 year two. 

Previous work indicated that outsourcing costs to a private provider in England to 
be approximately £750,000 for 300 patients. 

Benefits: 

• Delays the progression of advance cancer 

• Compliance with delivery of treatment as per NICE guidance within the 
allocated time limits. 

• Increased numbers of patients receiving a 3rd or 4th line targeted therapy. 

• No displacement of existing Pathology work to allow for introduction of Precision 
Medicine requirements. 

  

Pack Page 48



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

22 

7. Prevention 

Has there been a shift of resources towards 
prevention/early intervention. Where in the budget can 
this be seen. 
Response: 

The Welsh Government continues to focus on embedding a shift towards 
prevention and early intervention, as outlined in A Healthier Wales.  

It remains the case that prevention is fundamental to a wide range of activity 
across health and social care and NHS Wales, supporting people in Wales to live 
longer, healthier lives.  

The policy ambition to shift resources away from acute settings into primary and 
community settings involves two component parts, firstly the physical relocation of 
services, providing care closer to home, resulting in the shift of the relevant service, 
workforce, and resource. Secondly, the policy intention is to invest increasingly in 
these areas to strengthen the prevention agenda, and shift demand away from 
hospital services. Delivering this ambition is challenging given the impact of 
unavoidable cost growth in terms of inflationary pressure, and unavoidable 
demand growth in areas such as NICE approved medicines and treatments is 
greater in the acute setting.  

In addition, given the scale of the recovery backlog post COVID in relation to 
planned care, investment is being prioritised to addressing these challenges 
which results in increased expenditure in the acute settings. This alongside the 
need to deliver increased savings and efficiencies to support financial 
sustainability result in challenges to deliver this policy intent and ambition. 
Despite these challenges, Welsh Government continue to take steps to strengthen 
activity and investment in prevention activity. 

We have maintained the highly valued £146.2m Regional Integration Fund which 
is helping health, social care and the third sector to work together to develop 
integrated models of care that will help people to look after their own health and 
wellbeing, live well at home, prevent the need for conveyance or admission to 
hospital and help them return home quickly if they have needed secondary care.  

We continue to invest in our Healthy Weight Healthy Wales strategy to tackle 
overweight and obesity, with £2.9m allocated to support health boards to 
continue to develop and roll out their weight management pathways, and 
£4.042m allocated to support other activities, such as our Children and Family 
pilots and whole system approach work across all health board areas. 

Healthy Weight Healthy Wales prioritises prevention and early intervention, with a 
focus on encouraging healthy behaviour changes. The strategy takes a cross-
government approach to reducing obesity in Wales and has been developed 

Pack Page 49



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

23 

based on the evidence of what works, which combines individual behaviour 
change with environmental and system change.  

The strategy is delivered with a holistic view of the whole environment we live in, 
and how that impacts on the food and activity choices we make, which requires a 
cross government and cross organisational approach.  

The Children and Communities Grant (CCG) seeks to address the support needs of 
the most vulnerable children and adults in our communities through a range of 
early intervention, prevention and support mechanisms. The programmes within 
this grant (including Flying Start and Families First) seek to mitigate or remove 
disadvantage to vulnerable people to enable them to have the same life chances 
as others, thereby contributing to a more equal Wales.   

Our Flying Start and Families First programmes provide interventions to help give 
children the best possible start in life; build their resilience and confidence; and 
achieve positive wellbeing. The programmes place an emphasis on early help and 
prevention and tailored support to meet the needs of children and their families. 

Our Families First programme promotes multi-agency systems of support and 
works with the whole family, helping them address problems before they reach 
crisis point. The Team Around the Family (TAF) model brings together 
professionals from various sectors to work collaboratively with families, creating 
tailored action plans that address their unique needs.  
 
Childhood experiences, particularly during the early years, have a significant 
influence over future health and well-being. Flying Start and Families First staff, in 
collaboration with other multi-agency professionals (as part of a Team Around the 
Family approach), are essential in the early identification of concerns relating to 
adverse childhood experiences and trauma and can play a crucial role in 
mitigating their impact on children. 
 

Health And Social Care Regional Integration Fund  

We have maintained the highly valued £146.2m Health and Social Regional 
Integration Fund (RIF) which is helping health, social care and the third sector to 
work together to develop integrated models of care that will help people to look 
after their own health and wellbeing, live well at home, prevent the need for 
conveyance or admission to hospital and help them return home quickly if they 
have needed secondary care.  

The RIF is delivered by Regional Partnership Boards to ensure services are acting 
early to avoid escalation and through a national model of care focussing on 
preventative community co-ordination, supporting activity such as: 

• Social prescribing and helping people connect with support service local to 
them. 
 

• Aids and adaptations to enable people to stay longer at home. 
 

Pack Page 50



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

24 

• Falls Prevention Services 
 

• Community-led preventative support delivered by the third sector. 
 

• Befriending services to reduce loneliness and social isolation. 
 

• Unpaid care short break provision.  
 

Other models of care also support early intervention and include Complex care 
closer to home (helping people to stay well at home and prevent the need for 
hospital admission) and Home from hospital (helping people to move from 
hospital back closer to home, into their community safely and swiftly with the aim 
of preventing the detrimental deconditioning that occurs with unnecessary 
extended stays in hospital).  

These activities are contributing towards preventing conveyance and admission 
into hospital, maintaining people at home through a variety of care and support 
services. Likewise, activities funded to support ‘Home First’ through the Home 
from Hospital model are supporting early discharge for patients to their place of 
choice. In year two of the RIF (2023-24) the Wales spend on these three models of 
care totalled: 

• Preventative community co-ordination – £ 32.3m 
 

• Complex care closer to home – £ 20.6m 
 

• Home from hospital - £ 33.9m 
 
A similar spend is expected in year three (2024-25). 

Vaccinations 

The Welsh Government’s shift towards prevention can be seen clearly through the 
ambitions of the National Immunisation Framework to drive vaccination as an 
essential public health tool, which prevents serious illness, protects people, 
communities and the NHS in Wales.  

Vaccination programmes undertaken by health boards uses their core allocation 
to deliver existing programmes, which cover from birth to older years. Further 
investment into vaccine preventable diseases in 2025 are planned as below: 
 

Reallocation of resource for the central procurement of influenza vaccine – 
£10.6m 
This change will help to maximise the uptake of seasonal flu vaccine by ensuring 
supply and distribution is better matched to demand and by enabling more 
efficient delivery models and increased alignment with other vaccination activity.  
 

Pack Page 51



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

25 

NWSSP investment to support central flu vaccine procurement and 
distribution- £0.5m 
Investing recurrent funding in NWSSP to support the logistics of flu vaccine 
procurement, supply and distribution, including health courier service. 
 

Mpox/Gonorrhoea JCVI advised programmes - £1.43m 
New routine vaccination programmes for Mpox and Gonorrhoea will be delivered 
by the NHS in 2025, delivered through Sexual health services to prevent against 
infectious diseases and to tackle antimicrobial resistance through reduced use of 
antibiotics. 
 

Childhood vaccination schedule changes - £0.3m 
Changes to the childhood schedule and vaccines used to enhance uptake and 
deliver an additional vaccination appointment for young children.  

 
Respiratory Syncytial Virus vaccination - £1.85m 
Continued rollout of new RSV vaccine programmes to older adults and to protect 
infants via maternal vaccination 

Screening 

There is an additional £0.8m investment set aside for expansion of screening 
services in 2025-26. This relates to the Bowel screening programme. 

Screening is an important preventative service, identifying conditions at an early 
and more easily treatable stage in people without symptoms and, therefore, 
improving health outcomes and avoiding costly interventions and treatments at a 
more advanced stage. Funding for the national screening programmes is included 
in Public Health Wales’ core budget. The Welsh Government continues to work 
with Public Health Wales to provide screening programmes in line with the advice 
of the UK National Screening Committee.  

  

Pack Page 52



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

26 

8. Estates and infrastructure 

Capital and revenue allocations to develop, improve, 
and maintain NHS estates and infrastructure, 
including digital infrastructure. 
Response: 

We are continuing to invest significant sums in the NHS estate across Wales. The 
challenges of delivering a modern NHS through an ageing estate across NHS 
Wales continue to be felt. Good progress has been made with better 
understanding NHS organisations infrastructure requirements during 2024 which 
will help direct the available capital towards those schemes that will have the 
greatest impact on patients, staff and visitors.   

Maintaining the existing estate continues to require significant investment and 
the capital being made available to NHS organisations as discretionary funding to 
support the day to day running of the buildings will increase in 2025-26 from 
£83m to £100m. With a continued focus on the provision of a safe and compliant 
estate, £40m is being made available to support prioritised investment across the 
following areas:  

• General Infrastructure: £18m 
 

• Fire Safety: £5m 
 

• Mental Health: £5m 
 

• Decarbonisation: £6m 
 

• Infection, Prevention and Control: £3m 
 

• Decontamination: £3m 
 

The largest investments being supported in 2025-26 remain the on-going 
refurbishment of Prince Charles Hospital in Merthyr Tydfil (a £220m scheme) 
which will see the transformation of the site going forward with works for this 
phase due to complete in late 2026.  

2025-26 will see the completion of the orthopaedic hub development at 
Llandudno Hospital. This will provide benefits for patients, staff and the wider 
North Wales community by delivering a planned 1,900 procedures a year. Work is 
on site and progressing well with the expectation that the hub will be seeing 
patients by the end of the summer 2025. 

The construction of the Radiotherapy Satellite Unit at Nevill Hall hospital has 
progressed well during 2024 and is due to see its first patient in May 2025. This 

Pack Page 53



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

27 

development is key in bringing oncology services closer to patients’ homes in 
southeast Wales.  

The new Velindre Cancer Centre is now progressing well on site and is being 
funded through the Mutual Investment Model. The new centre is due to see its 
first patient in 2027 which will bring significant improvements for Welsh residents.  

Funding will continue to be required (and is being made available) to replace the 
roof covering at the Princess of Wales hospital which is a clear reflection of the 
ageing nature of the NHS estate in Wales. 

The presence of Reinforced Autoclaved Aerated Concrete (RAAC) is requiring 
continued investment across two main acute hospital sites in NHS Wales: 
Withybush and Nevill Hall. These essentially unplanned works further demonstrate 
some of the challenges of dealing with the ageing estate. 
 

Digital, Innovation & Technology 

The digital initiatives we continue to invest in are aligned with the Digital and Data 
Strategy for Health and Social Care in Wales, reflecting the aims of the six missions 
outlined and our policy position of ‘better data, better care’. 

Digital technology offers us an unprecedented opportunity to reshape health and 
social care including improve outcomes, patient safety and increased job 
satisfaction and staff retention.  

To achieve our vision of optimised data sharing across health and care settings, 
ensuring that our health and care staff have access to the information they need 
when they need it, we require critical systems and improved data sharing and 
connectivity across primary and secondary care electronic health records as well 
as social care, mental health and community care systems. Investment focuses on 
fundamentals in these core areas.  

To achieve this will require strong partnerships with commercial entities, 
academia and third sector organisations that align with the values and open 
architectural principles of NHS Wales as well as a renewed focus on enterprise 
architecture from Digital Health and Care Wales (DHCW), the national digital 
organisation working in conjunction with health and care organisations. The 
DHCW baseline budget for 25-26 will be over £64m. 

Without these fundamental digital underpinnings, we will not be able to leverage 
newer technologies such as artificial intelligence. 

Work continues to align with one of five themes being: 
 

• Transforming digital services for patients and public. 
 

• Transforming digital services for professionals. 
 

• Investing in data and intelligent information. 
 

Pack Page 54



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

28 

• Modernising devices and moving to cloud services. 
 

• Cyber security and resilience. 
 
The Digital Priorities Investment Fund (DPIF) is used to fund strategic digital 
transformation opportunities in NHS Wales, and it is intended to support the 
delivery of NHS Wales’ service change. In 2025-16 we will increase investment in 
our digital priorities by £15m. 

The DPIF fund for 2025-26 is £30m capital and £57.8m Revenue. We will ensure 
that the fund is adequately allocated between national and local organisations to 
reflect the critical role that health board and local authority digital teams play in 
delivering national policy.  

We will prioritise accelerating the care data repository within the National Data 
Resource platform that will form an integral part of our data architecture and 
increasing the services available within the NHS Wales App through an expanded 
roadmap expanding beyond the current primary care service offer. 

Digital Maternity Cymru remains a multi-year funded priority to deliver a specialist 
maternity record available across NHS Wales along with a citizen facing app. NHS 
Wales organisations are on track for the technology to be available to staff and 
mothers and birthing people as planned by the end of 2025-26. Increasing the 
allocation of local versus national funding will support this, remaining within the 
agreed overall budget for the programme.  

Other multi-year funded initiatives include the Programme for Government 
electronic prescribing and medicines (ePMA) programme with the majority of 
NHS Wales organisations moving to year two and the delivery phase. Additionally, 
multi-year funding completes the critical diagnostic system replacements of the 
RISP, radiology system and LIMS, laboratory testing, without which our hospitals 
cannot operate.  

Mental health funding has been allocated to support Betsi Cadwaladr University 
Health Board and Cym Taf Morgannwg due to the special measures status of 
mental health services.  

The NHS Wales Cyber Resilience Unit continues to protect patient information, 
ensuring the safety and security of our digital infrastructure. This is crucial for 
maintaining the trust of our citizens. At the end of financial year of 2023-24 over 
£22m capital was investment in cyber improvement initiatives and any surplus 
capital continues to consider digital infrastructure and cyber mitigation within 
health boards as a high priority area.  

We have seen first-hand the benefits and cost saving that investment in digital 
maternity, the NHS App, ePMA and connecting data across care settings have 
delivered in England and other comparator health nations and which exemplifies 
why we not only seek to deliver in Wales to meet the needs of our citizens but 
seek to leverage an agile approach to ‘leapfrog’ and accelerate digital 
transformation.  

 

Pack Page 55



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

29 

9. Health inequalities I 

Evidence of a cross-government approach to tackling 
inequalities and the wider determinants of health, and 
that ‘population health’ is a consideration across 
government department budgets. 
Response: 

We are maintaining our funding of the Regional Integration Fund (RIF) at £146.2m. 
Within this, the Integrated Community Service is developing preventative and 
capacity building models of care specifically for the following key population 
groups: 
 

• Older people including people with dementia; 
 

• Children and young people with complex needs; 
 

• Unpaid Carers; 
 

• People with learning disabilities and neurodevelopment conditions; 
 

• People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs. 
 

Flying Start  

Our targeted early years programme Flying Start has an integrated approach and 
includes four core elements:  

• fully funded quality childcare,  
 

• parenting support,  
 

• intensive health visitor support, and  
 

• support for speech, language and communication (SLC). 
  

The promotion of key public health messages and of healthy lifestyles is a key part 
of the additional Flying Start health support offered by health visitors and the 
wider workforce.  

Flying Start delivery data for 2023-24 shows that 41,328 children benefited from 
Flying Start services, which is approximately 35 per cent of children under four 

Pack Page 56



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

30 

years old in Wales and is 17 per cent higher than 2022-23. 
 

Speech, Language & Communication 

It is estimated that 10 per cent of all children in the UK have long-term, persistent 
speech, language and communication (SLC) needs. Research shows that children 
living in poverty suffer disproportionately from transient early language delay. 
Language skills are a critical factor in the intergenerational cycles that can 
perpetuate poverty as poor communication skills are passed down from parent to 
child. Our continued investment in SLC through Flying Start and our national 
approach to SLC through the Talk with Me delivery plan demonstrate how we are 
addressing inequalities and wider determinants of health. 
 

Families First Programme 

Our Families First programme is designed to improve outcomes for babies, 
children, young people and their families, particularly for those living in poverty. It 
places an emphasis on early help, prevention, and provides support for the whole 
family. The programme works with the family to stop problems from escalating 
towards crisis.   

This inclusive programme uses a strengths-based approach, placing an emphasis 
on early help, prevention, and support, to encourage happy, resilient, empowered, 
and independent families.   

Families First support provided by local authorities can vary as it is based on a 
population needs analysis. It can include initiatives focused on nutrition, cooking 
skills, and the importance of physical activity, ensuring families have access to the 
resources and knowledge they need to make healthier lifestyle choices. 

Families First also plays a critical role in embedding health and well-being 
practices within schools, childcare settings, and community spaces.   

By fostering environments where healthy habits are encouraged and normalised, 
we are laying the foundation for lifelong healthy behaviours.  

Initiatives such as school-based nutrition programmes, active play schemes, and 
family fitness activities are pivotal in shaping the health outcomes of our citizens. 

 

Pack Page 57



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

31 

10. Health inequalities II 

How the impact of funding allocations on different 
groups/communities has been taken into account 
during the development of the budget proposals. 
Response: 

The impact of funding allocations on equalities and Welsh Language and on 
different groups/communities has been considered as part of the Strategic 
Integrated Impact Assessment, as well as by the drafting of supporting impact 
assessments by individual policy areas.  

As in previous years, we have looked to mitigate the more serious impacts on 
frontline services, patient care, access and performance targets, with the view 
supporting our most vulnerable populations. However, health boards will 
undoubtedly continue to face challenging decisions to manage within their 
individual budgets. All decisions by health boards will also be subject to quality 
impact assessments and each health board faces different challenges in terms of 
population need and the configuration of services. The actions taken to manage 
costs within budgets will vary according to organisation and will be subject to 
local determination. 

The Welsh Government continues to place a strong emphasis on equity and 
inclusion in health and care. This means ensuring that everyone in Wales has 
access to the same high-quality healthcare, regardless of their background or 
circumstances. A Healthier Wales – our long-term plan for health and social care - 
has addressing health inequalities as a core theme running throughout. Part of 
our work includes the establishment of an NHS Health Inequalities Group, which 
is co-chaired by Welsh Government and NHS Wales, to focus and drive efforts 
towards tackling health inequalities through the lens of the NHS. 

The implementation of the Health and Social Care (Quality and Engagement) 
(Wales) Act 2020 places a Duty of Quality on Welsh Ministers and NHS bodies to 
provide a focus on improving the quality of health services and equitable 
population health outcomes on an ongoing basis. The development of Quality 
Statements in service-specific areas will help health boards to plan services and 
make resourcing decisions to ensure quality services are delivered across the 
whole population. 
 

Women’s health 

On 10 December the Women’s Health Plan for Wales was launched.  This sets out 
how the NHS will meet the ambitions of the Quality Statement for Women and 
Girls health and address the health inequalities currently faced by women 
through clear actions to improve service delivery. An additional £3 million has 
been allocated to Women’s Health from April 2025 for delivery of the actions in 

Pack Page 58



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

32 

the Plan, with a particular focus on establishing pathfinder women’s health hubs 
in each health board.   
 

Children and Communities Grant 

We have protected funding for the Children and Communities Grant (CCG) which 
supports the needs of the most vulnerable children and families through a range 
of early intervention and prevention support. This includes:   

• Flying Start which supports the First 1,000 days because the evidence shows 
that this period significantly influences the outcomes for children and their 
families. Flying Start includes intensive health visitor support and support for 
speech, language and communication (SLC) to tackle health inequalities. 
Children and families living in Flying Start areas are all eligible for an 
enhanced level of health visiting support. Those families with the greatest 
level of identified need receive the most intensive support. SLC 
development is fundamental to positive outcomes for children. Children’s 
SLC skills have an impact on a wide range of outcomes including behaviour, 
mental health and employability.  
 

• Families First supports improved outcomes for babies, children, young 
people and their families, particularly those living in poverty. Support is 
based on a population needs analysis which allows services to be tailored to 
meet the specific needs of communities. Through its comprehensive and 
multi-agency approach, Families First helps create healthier families and 
stronger communities, thereby reducing health disparities and promoting 
overall wellbeing. 

 

 

Pack Page 59



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

33 

11. Women’s health 

How the budget will support women’s health, 
including details of the funding that has been 
allocated to support the 10-year delivery stage of the 
women’s health plan. 
 
Response: 

The Women’s Health Plan (WHP) is intended to provide the NHS in Wales a 
blueprint for enacting the Quality Statement and the outcomes of the Discovery 
phase work. 
 
The WHP sets out the areas that the NHS in Wales is expected to prioritise for 
improvement. These are listed below: 
 

• Menstrual Health 
 

• Endometriosis and Adenomyosis 
 

• Contraception, Post-Natal Contraception and Abortion Care 
 

• Preconception Health  
 

• Pelvic Health and Incontinence 
 

• Menopause 
 

• Violence against Women and Girls 
 

• Ageing Well and Long-Term Conditions Across the Life Course  
 
The WHP identifies actions for each of these areas and they are assigned short-, 
medium- and long-term timeframes for delivery. 
 
Delivery of the WHP actions will begin from January 2025 onwards. Continuing 
the NHS led approach to the development of the WHP being the driving force for 
improvement in women’s health service delivery, the NHS Executive will be 
responsible for the delivery of its actions. 
 
There are a number of short-term actions identified in the WHP. The focus will be 
on the following actions in the first instance: 
 

Pack Page 60



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

34 

• Women’s Health Hubs; 
 

• A Women’s Health website to bring information on women’s health issues 
together in one trusted place; 
 

• Make Every Contact Count (MECC) – Menstrual Health and Menopause: 
clinicians should take the opportunity to ask women about menstrual 
health and menopause as part of existing touchpoints; 
 

• Women’s Health Research to inform future service delivery;  
 

• Pelvic Health and Continence: providing access to evidence based high 
quality information on pelvic health and perinatal health (inc. videos), 
via the NHS Wales women’s health website and the WG commitment in 
relation to raising awareness;  
 

• Endometriosis and Adenomyosis: provide education and training to all 
healthcare practitioners on endometriosis and adenomyosis as a chronic 
condition and to ensure patients receive multi-professional care including 
access to adequate mental health support. 
 

We will also be looking to make sure there is oversight of the following key area: 
 

• Embedding Women’s Voices : the WHP will set an expectation that health 
hoards will involve women, and those with lived and learnt experiences 
locally, in its implementation. This is key to the effective delivery of the WHP 
as it will rely upon listening to the voices of women in Wales by identifying 
and embedding techniques and behaviours that ensure women’s and girl’s 
voices are heard in every interaction they have with the NHS. 
 

The Draft Budget for 2025-26 includes an increased allocation for Women’s Health 
of £3m which will be utilised to support the set-up costs and evaluation of the 
pathfinder Women’s Health Hubs.   

Pack Page 61



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

35 

12. Assessing impact/value for money 

The mechanisms in place (within the health and care 
system and at Welsh Government level) to assess 
whether spending by health boards/trusts and local 
authorities is achieving its aims and delivering value for 
money. What/where does the Welsh Government 
consider are the main challenges in assessing 
outcomes/value for money. 
Response: 

NHS  

The NHS has long standing processes which report on performance and financial 
monitoring. The Welsh Government HSC Finance team receive and scrutinise the 
financial reporting information on a monthly and annual basis.  

This is supported by the Financial Planning and Delivery team within the NHS 
Executive who work with the NHS in support of Government to support financial 
sustainability and delivery in the NHS, alongside maximising the impact and use 
of health and social care spending in Wales. It also supports the pursuit of an 
integrated quality and safety agenda, focusing on how the NHS uses its resources 
and the outcomes it achieves to identify opportunities for improvement.  

As part of the System Enhanced Monitoring and Recovery Framework in 2023-24, 
the Utilisation of Resources Group was reframed as the NHS Wales Value and 
Sustainability Board, which meets monthly. The Board drives a systematic 
approach to strengthen cross system working, to deliver actions for financial 
improvement and to deliver more sustainable health care on a consistent basis.  

The principle is for Board and supporting work to drive a strengthened national 
approach to support and compliment local planning and delivery arrangements 
to progress the identification, development, and implementation of opportunities 
for both in-year and recurrent financial improvement across NHS Wales.  

The work of the Value and Sustainability Board is used to highlight the variation 
across several significant areas of resource utilisation and opportunities for 
improvement. The work of the Board is centred around the main areas of resource 
utilisation within the NHS, namely workforce, CHC, non-pay & procurement, 
medicines, and clinical variation. The work of the group has supported 
identification of variation, and opportunities for improvement to enable continued 
delivery of an increased level of savings and efficiency. 

In addition, this framework also supports the work of the Welsh Value in Health 
Centre, and the Value Based Healthcare approach in NHS Wales to supporting 

Pack Page 62



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

36 

improving patient outcomes relative to costs. This includes defining high-value 
interventions across pathways in different condition areas, which support not only 
improved value for money and improvements in resource utilisation, but also 
improved clinical outcomes and patient experience. This work is supported by all 
the NHS Wales Health Boards. 

Further opportunities to standardise approaches and pathways will continue to be 
developed. Using the strategic national programmes in Wales, the NHS and Welsh 
Government are collaborating with clinical colleagues and stakeholders to embed 
best practice and value for money approaches.  

It remains a challenge to deliver a once for Wales approach in all areas due in part 
to the variation in public health across different communities, and also the 
availability of workforce in some areas will restrict a standardised approach. Work 
is underway to assess further sustainability issues in service provision and identify 
opportunities to eliminate excessive cost drivers in these challenged areas.  

In recent years, we have improved and embedded our planning and delivery 
frameworks with the NHS. This has included a focus on a number of areas to 
deliver on improvements in financial sustainability, for example, the 
implementation of Getting it Right First Time (GIRFT) related initiatives and 
priorities such as patient initiated follow-ups in planned care and implementing a 
value-based healthcare approach in a number of condition areas, to improve 
outcomes relative to resources utilised. The Welsh Value in Health Centre, hosted 
by the NHS Executive, also provides capacity and support to Local Health Boards 
in the delivery of value-based healthcare activity which will improve the outcomes 
of our population. 
 

Flying Start  

We have just begun a three-year evaluation of the Flying Start Programme, in 
which we have included an impact evaluation of Flying Start.  We also continue to 
work with Local Authorities and Health Boards to submit Flying Start data into the 
Secure Anonymised Information Linkage (SAIL) databank and plan to use this 
data for the impact analysis. Our aim is to show the long-term outcomes of the 
Flying Start programme in helping those in the most disadvantaged areas of 
Wales.  
 

Social Care  

Welsh Government direct investment in social care is intended to support local 
authority mainstream spending, through investing in specific aspects of service 
development and improvement. Such investment is subject to individual grant 
agreements which include proportionate provisions in relation to the assessment 
of outcomes and value for money.  

Almost all of the funding for local authority social services is funded through the 
un-hypothecated general revenue settlement and local authorities’ own resources 
from council tax, fees and charges and other income. This expenditure in relation 

Pack Page 63



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

37 

to social care is under the control of individual local authorities, including the 
determination of intended outcomes for that spend and the associated 
assessment of value for money, within the requirements of relevant statutory 
provisions. There are both specific service-related requirements (such as through 
the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014) and more general provisions, 
which establish or update Local Government in Wales (such as in the Local 
Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021) and set the framework within which 
local authorities operate and are accountable. Through this, the Welsh 
Government ensures that there is a local and national general framework of 
assurance and control.  

Key elements of this framework are:  

• requirements on local effectiveness and efficiency, on scrutiny and on 
performance; 
 

• requirements for external audit; 
 

• the publication of data (such as the Local Authority Social Services Annual 
Report) to enable local and national transparency, monitoring and scrutiny 
and inspection through Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW).  
 

Local Authorities have a general obligation to secure economic, effective and 
efficient services which Authorities must keep under review (The Local 
Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021). Similarly, to provide for a general 
culture where councils in Wales continually aim to do better, Welsh Government 
has legislated to require that Councils must keep their overall performance under 
review. This includes requiring they seek the view of citizens and publish an 
annual self-assessment of how effectively they are exercising their functions. Each 
local authority must also periodically ensure that a panel assessment of its 
performance takes place. Local scrutiny is an essential element of this assurance, 
in addition to local authority specific scrutiny, the role of which was strengthened 
for all services through the Local Government and Elections Act 2021.  

The Auditor General for Wales is responsible for auditing both the accounts of and 
the value for money of local authorities. The Welsh Government publishes data on 
social service and other local authority services budgets and expenditure each 
year. To complement this, local authority social service provision is monitored, on a 
monthly basis, via the Social Services Checkpoint report. This provides, for 
example, data around the number of contacts, the number related to 
safeguarding, assessments, children and adults receiving care and support, and 
children looked after. This is further complemented by the measuring activity and 
performance data of the Performance and Improvement Framework for social 
services. Such data is an important asset in understanding the environment of 
social care both locally and nationally, being used to assess the volume of people 
local authorities provide care and support to and the demand on particular 
services and functions. It also serves as a tool that can be used by local authorities 
to monitor their capacity to deliver against the requirements of the Social Services 
and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. A report on measuring activity and performance 

Pack Page 64



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

38 

data of the Performance and Improvement Framework for social services is 
published annually. This data provides an annual summary of the activity of local 
authority social services across Wales.  

The above is underpinned by arrangements to consider the operations, efficiency, 
etc., of local authority social services departments through the regulator, Care 
Inspectorate Wales. 

 

Pack Page 65



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

39 

13. Health board’s financial performance and 
planning 

An update on the overall financial performance of 
health boards, including:  

• projected end of year financial position for health boards for 
2024-25, and which health boards are forecasting to breach their 
statutory financial duties to deliver break-even over the period 
2022-23 to 2024-25 and to secure Ministerial approval for their 
integrated medium-term plans for the period 2024 to 2027; 
 

• which health boards have received additional end-of-year and in-
year financial support in 2024-25; the extent of that support and 
the planned duration; together with confirmation of any funding 
being held in the Main Expenditure Group for Local Health 
Boards that has yet to be allocated or is being held to cover 
overspends  
 

• a copy of the letter issued to Local Health Boards to be used in 
their preparation of their Integrated Medium Term plans for 2025 
to 2028, if this is not published by the time the evidence is 
submitted to the Committee;  

(In its report on the Welsh Government Draft Budget 2024-
25, the Committee recommended that the then Minister for 
Health and Social Services publish a copy of the letter she 
issued to Health Boards to be used in the preparation of 
their respective Integrated Medium-Term Plans. Where 
applicable, she should do this on an annual basis, alongside 
publication of other Welsh Government draft budget 
documentation. In her response, the then Minister for Health 
and Social Services agreed to do so moving forward.)  

• details of the Local Health Board allocations for 2025-26, which 
are issued annually under a Welsh Health Circular, if the letters 
have been issued to Local Health Boards but not published at 
the time the evidence is submitted to the Committee;  
 

Pack Page 66



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

40 

• details of how the Welsh Government will support and work with 
health boards to bring NHS Wales back into financial balance.  

(The accounts for 2023-24 show that none of the Local 
Health Boards met the first statutory financial duty under 
the NHS Finances Act 2014 (the ‘Act’) to break even over a 
rolling three year period: they all reported a cumulative 
overspend against the revenue resource allocation limit for 
2021-22 to 2023-24. This is the first time all Local Health 
Boards have breached break-even over a three year period 
since the implementation of the Act. In total, Local Health 
Boards’ overspent by £185 million in 2023-24, with a 
cumulative overspend of £385.3 million over the three years). 

Response: 

Update on financial position of Local Health Boards 2024-25 

For 2024-25, Welsh Government set out a clear allocation framework for NHS 
bodies, alongside clear delivery expectations, and expectations in terms of 
financial improvement. 

Plans submitted at the start of this financial year by Local Heath Boards totalled a 
combined deficit position of £220m. All other NHS organisations submitted 
financially balanced plans. Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board was the 
only Health Board to submit a financially balanced Integrated Medium Term Plan 
(IMTP) for 2024-2027. 

As at Month 7 the consolidated forecast deficit for the NHS is being reported as 
£220.0m, as detailed below:  
 

Month 7 forecast year end position 
 

Organisation Surplus/ -Deficit 

£000s 

Swansea Bay -50,100 

Aneurin Bevan -47,856 

Betsi Cadwaladr -19,761 

Cardiff & Vale -15,900 

Cwm Taf Morgannwg 0 

Hywel Dda -64,000 

Powys -22,948 

Pack Page 67



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

41 

HEIW 0 

DHCW 0 

PHW 0 

Velindre (inc NWSSP) 524 

WAST 0 

NHS Wales -220,041 

 

As at month 7, essentially NHS organisations are currently forecasting to deliver 
their plans. Welsh Government have planned on the basis that Health Boards will 
deliver the plans that they have set out. This combined deficit of £220m is offset 
by £168m of recurrent savings actions which were identified and delivered in the 
MEG in full which have been transacted through budgets in 2024-25, and a 
further £52m of identified actions to support delivery of a balanced MEG which 
mitigates this level of deficit. As at month 7 the HSC MEG is forecasting financial 
balance, however with a small number of significant high-risk items to mitigate, 
including delivery of this NHS forecast position. 

In November 2024, we agreed to the allocation of additional funding to Local 
Health Boards from the funding retained within the MEG to support the NHS 
position in the 2024-25, to support continued improvement. These allocations will 
aid the strengthening of delivery arrangements and the resetting of Local Health 
Board target control totals. 

The first element relates to a £50m general allocation to the seven Local Health 
Boards, on a resource allocation formula (fair shares) basis. This will be a confirmed 
recurrent allocation. This funding was to recognise inflationary pressures 
continuing in 2024-25 in specific areas against which non-recurrent funding 
support was provided during the 2023-24 financial year. In addition, these are 
evidenced and quantified inflationary pressures continuing across all Boards in 
specific areas above plan in 2024-25. These relate largely to prescribing, secondary 
care medicines, and continuing healthcare packages (CHC) in particular.  

The general allocation includes providing £7.5m for Cwm Taf Morgannwg Health 
Board which is provided in recognition of their delivery of a balanced position in 
2023-24, a ministerially approved IMTP, and to support in part the impact of the 
increased revenue costs associated with the roof issues at the Princess of Wales 
hospital.  

The second element provides specific allocations totalling £62m and is directed to 
three organisations. These allocations follow a review carried out by officials of 
Local Health Boards “distance from target”, which reviewed funding positions of 
each Board against the resource allocation formula, as well as further evidence 
considered by Board.  

These allocations in effect recognise where organisations are relatively distant 
from the target funding allocation by Board, if all allocations were allocated based 
on the Resource Allocation Formula.  Based on that review, and using a consistent 

Pack Page 68



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

42 

and equitable approach using agreed principles, three Health Boards were 
assessed as having an evidence-based case for financial support at that stage. 
Those are, Aneurin Bevan (£31m), Hywel Dda (£26m), and Powys (£5m). No other 
Health Board had a material case for recognition of funding support at the time of 
the review. These additional allocations are supported by specific prospective 
conditions that support sustaining continued improvement. 

As an outcome of this in-year review process and allocation of funding, we set 
refreshed Target Control Totals by Health Board. 

 
Allocations to Local Health Boards and Target Control Totals: 
 

Organisation M7 
forecast 

Additional 
in-year 

allocation  
(genera) 

Additional 
in-year 

allocation 
(specific) 

Revised 
M7 

forecast 
position 

Target 
control 

total 
2024-25 

Surplus/ 
 -Deficit 

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Swansea Bay -50,100 6,399 0 -43,702 -17,000 

Aneurin 
Bevan 

-47,856 9,546 31,000 -7,311 -7,315 

Betsi 
Cadwaladr 

-19,761 11,151 0 -8,611 -8,611 

Cardiff & Vale -15,900 6,804 0 -9,097 -9,097 

Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg 

0 7,475 0 0 0 

Hywel Dda -64,000 6,449 26,000 -31,551 -31,552 

Powys -22,948 2,178 5,000 -15,770 -12,000 

HEIW 0 0 0 0 0 

DHCW 0 0 0 0 0 

PHW 0 0 0 0 0 

Velindre (inc 
NWSSP) 

524 0 0 524 0 

WAST 0 0 0 0 0 

NHS Wales -220,041 50,000 62,000 -115,516 -85,575 

 

For Health Boards forecasting delivery of their plans, the revised target control 
total recognises the additional funding against that plan and forecast position. In 

Pack Page 69



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

43 

the instances where Health Board plans are a deterioration on the outturn and 
target control position delivered in 2023-24 (Swansea Bay, and Powys Health 
Boards respectively), the existing Target Control total has been maintained as the 
milestone for the Health Board to get back on track in terms of financial delivery. 

For organisations who cannot deliver that target control total in year, in effect 
(based on the control totals set and current forecasts), non-recurrent cover is 
provided within the MEG for the difference in existing forecast and the target 
control total based on current forecasts. The target control will remain the 
milestone and target for Health Boards plans to get back on track and deliver in 
the first instance. 

Against the original forecast deficits of Health Boards of £220m, £104m was 
allocated to Health Boards at Month 7 with an additional £8m allocated to Cwm 
Taf Morgannwg UHB in respect of the issues at the Princess of Wales Hospital, 
making the total additional in-year allocation £112m. Target control totals were set 
at £85m.  £116m is being retained in the MEG to off-set the revised forecast deficit.  

Statutory Break-Even Duty 2022-23 to 2024-25 

As reported in the NHS Summarised Accounts for 2023-24, none of the seven 
Local Health Boards had met the duty to break-even over the reported three-year 
period. As Cwm Taf Morgannwg are the only LHB forecast to breakeven on an in-
year basis for the 2024-25 year, none of the Local Health Boards are currently 
expected to meet their break-even duty for the three-year period from 2022-23 to 
the end of 2024-25. 

Only Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board provided a three year 
Integrated Medium Term Plan for 2024 – 2027 which was ministerially approved. 

Additional in-year financial support 2024-25 

Further allocations of in-year funding, from Welsh Government Reserves, have 
been agreed by the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and the Cabinet, which will be 
directed towards this Government’s top priority areas.  

We have allocated £50m for reducing NHS waiting times and £27m supporting 
improvements in pathways of care, both allocations being for 2024-25 only. There 
are also capital allocations for Diagnostic Equipment and Cyber Security & Digital, 
totalling £31m.  

The additional £8m, referred to above, for Cwm Taf Morgannwg UHB is funding 
being provided from WG reserves in-year and non-recurrently. This will support 
maintaining performance whilst the organisation deals with the issues at the 
Princess of Wales hospital. 

These allocations will support NHS delivery in the current financial year and 
provide for additional capacity. 

All allocations will be detailed within a second supplementary budget later in the 
financial year 

Pack Page 70



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

44 

Local Health Board allocations for 2025-26 

The main NHS Health Board Allocation letter has not been fully completed at this 
point. Further details and a copy of the letter and financial tables will be provided 
to the committee once they are finalised and issued to the NHS. 

Welsh Government support 

For 2024-25, Welsh Government set out a clear allocation framework for NHS 
bodies, alongside clear delivery expectations, and expectations in terms of 
financial improvement. The actions set out above reflecting additional in-year 
allocations and reset target control totals, are all part of Welsh Government are 
supporting and working with Health Boards to return to financial balance. 

The expectation is that each Local Health Board makes progress in delivering 
improvements with a trajectory for delivering sustainable financial positions. The 
reset target control totals are a key milestone in the improvement trajectory to 
return to in-year financial balance. 

This framework supports improvement, whilst recognising that there are some 
challenges which affect all Health Boards consistently such as sustained 
unavoidable demand growth, and persistent inflationary pressures, which have 
been supported by additional funding. However, in addition each Health Board 
will have its own challenges which will be unique to organisations given different 
population needs, geography, and configuration of services across health boards. 
Delivery actions which may be possible in some health boards may not be 
possible in others.  

All health boards are expected to be making the best decisions possible to 
balance service, workforce, and financial risk within these delivery parameters, and 
delivering financial improvement whilst also delivering on meeting the needs of 
their local population.  

Organisations are expected to ensure that decisions are robustly impact assessed 
in terms of quality, safety, risk, and deliverability, and that balance of risk judgment 
and decision making are optimised. Local Health Boards will be best placed to 
determine what actions are the most appropriate to deliver financial 
improvement whilst balancing all other variables and risks. 

Welsh Government has a robust framework of support, monitoring and escalation 
and intervention measures. We utilise the existing frameworks around intervention 
and have set clear de-escalation criteria to support organisational improvement as 
part of those frameworks, with the support of the Financial Planning & Delivery 
Team of the NHS Executive. 

In addition, the national Value & Sustainability Board agenda continues to support 
the system in identifying and delivering opportunities to deliver savings and 
improvements in resource utilisation to deliver improved outcomes. This approach 
has supported NHS Wales delivering a greater level of savings and improvement 
than previous financial years. 

Pack Page 71



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

45 

 

Pack Page 72



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

46 

14. Social Care  

Planned allocation for social care, including:  
• Any additional funding identified for 2025-26, and how such 

funding will be targeted. 
 

• How the allocations will help to ensure the ongoing viability and 
stability of social care services, including residential and 
domiciliary care.  
 

• What support the draft budget will provide for unpaid carers, 
including evidence of any new support schemes and specific 
spend on respite care and financial support for carers.  
 

• Measures in the draft budget that will improve the sustainability 
of the social care workforce, particularly domiciliary care staff 
shortages 

 

Response: 

The majority of local authority social service funding is delivered through the un-
hypothecated general revenue settlement and local authorities’ own resources 
from council tax, fees and charges and other income. Control and direction of this 
investment is determined by individual local authorities. 

The Welsh Government’s direct investment in social care is intended to support 
local authority mainstream spending, by investing in specific aspects of service 
development and improvement. 

In 2025-26 we intend to allocate over £141m revenue funding to deliver our social 
care policy goals. An example of funded delivery is the Social Care Reform Fund. 
This was introduced in April 2022 to support activity to promote reform and 
improvement in social care and complements the funding provided in the Local 
Government settlement.  

The Social Care Reform Fund is used to support the reform of Social Care, to 
improve delivery and increase the sustainability of services across the social care 
sector. The funding is used to help deliver the Programme for Government 
commitments to reform social care for looked after children and to protect, re-
build and develop our services for vulnerable people and for unpaid carers and 
establish a National Social Care Office. 
 

Pack Page 73



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

47 

Additional funding 2025-26 

In 2025-26, the general revenue settlement in the Local Government MEG, will be 
increased by £235m to reflect the additional pressures being experienced by local 
authorities. 

This year, we consulted on raising the domiciliary care charge. We have decided to 
maintain the current maximum charge at £100 a week. An additional £5m will be 
allocated to local authorities to support them. Further work will be undertaken to 
address any inconsistencies in the way domiciliary care charges are applied across 
Wales.   
 
While no other significant additional investment has been allocated to the social 
care budgets in the HSC MEG, we will be allocating over £141m in 2025-26 and 
remain committed to delivering our key Programme for Government 
commitments such as eliminating profit from certain types of children’s social 
care and building more integrated health and social care services, supporting 
carers and also focusing sharply on reducing pathways of care delays. 

  
We will continue to work with key partners across the sector to maximise the use 
of all available funding in 2025-26. 
 

Ensuring ongoing viability and stability of services 

As noted, above, the majority of local authority social service funding is delivered 
through the un-hypothecated general revenue settlement and local authorities’ 
own resources from council tax, fees and charges and other income. Control and 
direction of this investment (including in relation to stabilising and supporting 
domiciliary and residential care) is determined by individual local authorities.  

The Welsh Government’s direct investment in social care is intended to support 
local authority mainstream spending, by investing in relation to specific aspects of 
service development and improvement. 

An example of the latter would be the Social Care Reform Fund, which was 
introduced in April 2022 to support activity to promote reform and improvement 
in social care, to complement the funding provided in the Local Government 
settlement.  
The Social Care Reform Fund is used to support the reform of Social Care, to  
improve delivery and increase the sustainability of services across the social care 
sector. The funding is used to help deliver the Programme for Government  
commitments to reform social care for looked after children and to protect, re-
build and develop our services for vulnerable people and for unpaid carers and 
establish a National Social Care Office. 
 
For example, the two schemes for unpaid carers provided via the Social Care 
Reform Fund are extremely well received by carers and stakeholder partners. 
These schemes provide urgent financial assistance and financial advice - and 
opportunities for unpaid carers to have a short break from their caring role. These 
schemes support unpaid carers to continue in their caring role, which contributes 

Pack Page 74



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

48 

to the overall stability of the sector. The Short Breaks scheme is intended to drive 
innovation and development of alternatives to traditional respite services, more in 
tune with what carers state they need.  

In addition, the Social Care Reform Fund will continue to support children’s 
residential and fostering services through the eliminating profit grant which has 
been used by local authorities to since the 2022-23 financial year for planning the 
development of new provision along with its subsequent staffing. The related 
radical reform grant, also under the Social Care Reform Fund will continue to 
support local authorities in the wider transformation agenda. 

 
Unpaid carers 

In relation to unpaid carers, the Carers Support Fund (£4.5m 2022-25) has 
provided support to unpaid carers to cope with the rising cost of living via the 
provision of grants to buy basic essential items, such as food, household and 
electronic items. There is strong evidence for the continued need for this fund, 
which has been successfully delivered from the Social Care Reform Fund over the 
past three years. 
 
The Short Breaks Scheme for unpaid carers (£9m for 2022-25) is also funded from 
the Social Care Reform Fund and provides opportunities for unpaid carers to have 
a break from their caring role. Again, this is an extremely well received and 
delivered scheme, where demand continues to exceed supply.  

The evidence is almost half of applicants to these two schemes are not previously 
known to services. This illustrates the added value, where these schemes act as 
gateways for carers where they can be signposted to other sources of advice and 
support. 

In addition to this funding, £1m is provided to health boards via the Regional 
Integration Fund to support unpaid carers where the cared-for person is admitted 
to hospital or being discharged. This ring-fenced funding is a significant support 
for carers and contributes to the agenda to reduce delayed hospital discharges. In 
addition, there is a requirement that five per cent of overall RIF funding is spent on 
services to support unpaid carers.  

Finally, funding to national organisations is made from the Sustainable Social 
Services Third sector grant scheme to provide services and support to unpaid 
carers and to deliver the objectives of the Welsh Government strategy for unpaid 
carers.  

There is no additional funding to enable expansion of financial support/new 
schemes for unpaid carers.  
 

Sustainability of social care workforce 

As a government we continue to work on creating a firm foundation to build our 
social care workforce. Our significant funding of approximately £28m through 
Social Care Wales aims to lead and support improvement in social care through 

Pack Page 75



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

49 

recruitment and retention of a quality and professional workforce. 
 

Real Living Wage (RLW) 

The Draft Budget for 2025-26 includes funding allocated within the RSG to raise 
the wages of social care workers, as part of our wider commitment to protect 
frontline public services and Programme for Government commitment to pay 
social care workers in Wales the RLW. The uplift will apply to registered workers in 
care homes and domiciliary care (both adults and children’s services) and 
registered domiciliary care workers in supported living settings. It will also be 
received by all personal assistants funded through a local authority direct 
payment. 

Delivering improved pay through the RLW will help address low pay associated 
with the sector and delivers not only improvements for the social care workforce, 
but improved workforce retention and outcomes for people receiving care and 
support. Whilst we recognise the uplift to the RLW alone will not address all 
challenges within Social Care, it will contribute to the sustainability and longer-
term ambition to raise the profile of the sector as a professional place to work, 
enhance opportunities for individuals to progress their careers, and to help 
improve recruitment and retention.  

The RLW for the social care workforce is further supported by the work of the 
Social Care Fair Work Forum’s work to address fair pay in the sector which includes 
the commitment to develop a Pay and Progression Framework for the sector, 
aiming to provide more consistent pay, progression and development 
opportunities to attract more people to the sector. 
 

Social Worker Bursary 

Funding for the social worker bursary is provided to students taking up the social 
work degree and offers additional financial support. This makes the social work 
degree more financially attainable and will ensure we have a sustainable supply of 
future social workers.  

The increase to the bursary of £10m over three years announced in 2022 has been 
available to students who took up the course since 2021-22. The enhanced 
financial support is available for both undergraduate and postgraduate students 
in Wales via the Social Work Bursary. The increase to the bursary brings our 
funding for this programme to almost £10m over three years to assist with the 
training of future social workers. Of this £10m package of funding, the changes we 
made total £3.5m across the three years. This represents a more than 50 per cent 
increase on the original bursary for both undergraduates and postgraduates. 

Social workers carry out a vital role within our communities, supporting people to 
take charge of their own lives. They are at the core of our social care system and 
key to the delivery of effective care. The student Social Work bursary supports 
people with the right skills and attributes to be able to undertake social work 
training and aims to contribute to the growth of a sustainable social work 
workforce in Wales and is a contribution to the costs incurred by individuals 

Pack Page 76



Welsh Government evidence paper to inform the Health and Social Care committee's scrutiny of 
the Draft Budget 2025-26 

50 

training to be social workers. 
 

Workforce and Sustainable Social Services grant (workforce grant) 

In recognition of the important role that local authorities play in delivering core 
social services, the Welsh Government has provided recurrent funding to the 
sector in the form of a Workforce and Sustainable Social Services grant. The 
criteria for the use of the grant have been broadly set allowing Local authorities to 
use the funding to support increases to pay, but also for other interventions aimed 
at supporting the delivery of sustainable social care services to ensure that they 
were better placed to meet increased or unexpected demand. In practice, the 
funding has been used for a variety of measures from salary uplifts to actions 
aimed at supporting the delivery of services. This grant has been issued annually 
to local authorities since 2019 and will total £45m for 2025-26. 

Pack Page 77



 

 

23 October 2024 

Dear Ministers 

Welsh Government Draft Budget 2025-26 

In line with our usual practice, I am writing in advance of the Welsh Government’s Draft Budget 2025-

26 to request written information to inform our scrutiny. 

We note the Welsh Government’s intention to publish the Draft Budget on Tuesday 10 December 

2024, and will be inviting you to attend an oral evidence session early in the new year. The clerk will 

liaise with your offices about dates. 

To assist in our scrutiny, I would be grateful to receive your response to the issues outlined in the 

annex to this letter, and any other written information you would like to provide, by Friday 13 

December 2024. 

Yours sincerely 

Russell George MS 

Chair, Health and Social Care Committee 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Y Pwyllgor Iechyd a  
Gofal Cymdeithasol  
— 
Health and Social Care 
Committee 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

SeneddIechyd@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddIechyd  

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
SeneddHealth@senedd.wales 

senedd.wales/SeneddHealth 
0300 200 6565 Jeremy Miles MS 

Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Care 

Dawn Bowden MS 

Minister for Children and Social Care 

Sarah Murphy MS 

Minister for Mental Health and Wellbeing 

HSC(6) 45-25 PTN1 

Pack Page 79

Agenda Item 3.1



 

 

Annex: request for information from the Welsh Government to inform 

scrutiny of the Draft Budget 2025-26 

Prioritisation  

1.   Details of the approach taken by Welsh Government to prioritise areas of spending, across the 

whole budget and within health and social care. (The Cabinet Secretary for Finance, 

Constitution and Cabinet Office has said the next Welsh Government budget will “once again 

be very challenging, and we will have to focus on our most important priorities, and there 

simply won't be enough money to meet all of the pressures that we face”). 

Waiting times  

2. Allocations to support the programme for transforming and modernising planned care and 

reducing NHS waiting lists.   

Mental health  

3.   A breakdown of allocations to improve mental health and wellbeing in Wales, including 

allocations to:  

▪ support implementation of the Welsh Government’s new mental health and suicide 

prevention strategies;  

▪  improve access to mental health services and outcomes for both adults and children and 

young people. 

Workforce 

4.   Allocations to support implementation of the 10-year strategy for the health and social care 

workforce and the national workforce implementation plan, including specific reference to 

retention and staff wellbeing.   

Primary care 

5.   How the budget will support delivery of the Welsh Government’s commitment to reform 

primary care, and the shift of more care out of hospitals into primary care/community settings.   

Service transformation  

6.   How this budget will balance the need to meet immediate/short-term pressures (e.g. the 

waiting times backlog, workforce shortages) with longer-term service transformation. 

  

Pack Page 80

https://record.senedd.wales/Plenary/13986#A89661
https://record.senedd.wales/Plenary/13986#A89661


 

 

 

Prevention  

7.   Has there been a shift of resources towards prevention/early intervention. Where in the 

budget can this be seen.   

Estates and infrastructure  

8.   Capital and revenue allocations to develop, improve, and maintain NHS estates and 

infrastructure, including digital infrastructure.  

Health inequalities  

9. Evidence of a cross-government approach to tackling inequalities and the wider determinants 

of health, and that ‘population health’ is a consideration across government department 

budgets.  

10. How the impact of funding allocations on different groups/communities has been taken into 

account during the development of the budget proposals. 

Women’s health 

11. How the budget will support women’s health, including details of the funding that has been 

allocated to support the 10-year delivery stage of the women’s health plan. 

Assessing impact/value for money 

12. The mechanisms in place (within the health and care system and at Welsh Government level) 

to assess whether spending by health boards/trusts and local authorities is achieving its aims 

and delivering value for money. What/where does the Welsh Government consider are the 

main challenges in assessing outcomes/value for money.  

Health boards’ financial performance and planning 

13. An update on the overall financial performance of health boards, including: 

▪ projected end of year financial position for health boards for 2024-25, and which health 

boards are forecasting to breach their statutory financial duties to deliver break-even over 

the period 2022-23 to 2024-25 and to secure Ministerial approval for their integrated 

medium-term plans for the period 2024 to 2027; 

▪ which health boards have received additional end-of-year and in-year financial support in 

2024-25; the extent of that support and the planned duration; together with confirmation 

of any funding being held in the Main Expenditure Group for Local Health Boards that has 

yet to be allocated or is being held to cover overspends 

Pack Page 81



 

 

▪ a copy of the letter issued to Local Health Boards to be used in their preparation of their 

Integrated Medium Term plans for 2025 to 2028, if this is not published by the time the 

evidence is submitted to the Committee;  

(In its report on the Welsh Government Draft Budget 2024-25, the Committee 

recommended that the then Minister for Health and Social Services publish a copy of the 

letter she issued to Health Boards to be used in the preparation of their respective 

Integrated Medium-Term Plans. Where applicable, she should do this on an annual basis, 

alongside publication of other Welsh Government draft budget documentation. In her 

response, the then Minister for Health and Social Services agreed to do so moving 

forward.) 

▪ details of the Local Health Board allocations for 2025-26, which are issued annually under 

a Welsh Health Circular, if the letters have been issued to Local Health Boards but not 

published at the time the evidence is submitted to the Committee; 

▪ details of how the Welsh Government will support and work with health boards to bring 

NHS Wales back into financial balance. 

(The accounts for 2023-24 show that none of the Local Health Boards met the first 

statutory financial duty under the NHS Finances Act 2014 (the ‘Act’) to break even over a 

rolling three year period: they all reported a cumulative overspend against the revenue 

resource allocation limit for 2021-22 to 2023-24. This is the first time all Local Health 

Boards have breached break-even over a three year period since the implementation of 

the Act. In total, Local Health Boards’ overspent by £185 million in 2023-24, with a 

cumulative overspend of £385.3 million over the three years).  

Social care 

14. Planned allocation for social care, including: 

▪ Any additional funding identified for 2025-26, and how such funding will be targeted. 

▪ How the allocations will help to ensure the ongoing viability and stability of social care 

services, including residential and domiciliary care. 

▪ What support the draft budget will provide for unpaid carers, including evidence of any 

new support schemes and specific spend on respite care and financial support for carers. 

▪  Measures in the draft budget that will improve the sustainability of the social care 

workforce, particularly domiciliary care staff shortages. 

 

Pack Page 82

https://senedd.wales/media/o5yortko/cr-ld16324-e.pdf#page=13
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s145792/Welsh%20Governments%20response%20to%20the%20Health%20and%20Social%20Care%20Committees%20report%20Welsh%20Governemnt%20draft.pdf#page=3


 

 

6 December 2024 

Dear Cabinet Secretary, 

Petition P-06-1400 Fair and Adequate Resourcing of General Practice in Wales 

The Petitions Committee considered the above petition, submitted by Lewis Williams of BMA Cymru, 
at its 18 November meeting. 

The Committee noted the debate on this petition in plenary on 6 November, and that further detailed 
work on the issue will continue to be undertaken by the Health & Social Care Committee. 

Members agreed to share the petitioner’s concerns with you, and with the Cabinet Secretary for 
Health and Social Care. in light of the current Draft Budget scrutiny process. I have copied in the Chair 
of the Health and Social Care Committee, and the Petitions Committee will keep the petition open 
pending responses. Please find attached correspondence from the petitioner for your consideration. 

The full details of the Committee’s consideration of the petition, including the correspondence and 
the actions agreed by the Committee can be found here: P-06-1400 Fair and Adequate Resourcing of 
General Practice in Wales 

I would be grateful if you could send your response by e-mail to the clerking team at 
petitions@senedd.wales. 

Y Pwyllgor Deisebau 
— 
Petitions Committee 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

Deisebau@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddDeisebau  

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
Petitions@senedd.wales  

senedd.wales/SeneddPetitions 
0300 200 6565 

Mark Drakeford MS 
Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Welsh Language
Welsh Government 
Tŷ Hywel 
Cardiff Bay 
CF99 1SN 

Copied to Russell George MS, Chair, Health and Social Care Committee 

HSC(6) 45-25  PTN2 

Pack Page 83

Agenda Item 3.2

https://record.senedd.wales/Plenary/14178#A91714
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=43223&Opt=0
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=43223&Opt=0
mailto:petitions@senedd.wales


Yours sincerely,

Carolyn Thomas MS 
Chair 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or 

English. 

Pack Page 84



 

 

Sensitivity: Unrestricted 

Sensitivity: Unrestricted 

 
 
BMA Cymru Wales comments on debate held on 
Petition P-06-1400 Fair and Adequate Resourcing of 
General Practice in Wales 
  
Introduction  
  
The BMA is a professional association and trade union representing and negotiating on behalf of all 
doctors and medical students in the UK. It is a leading voice advocating for outstanding health care 
and a healthy population. It is an association providing members with excellent individual services 
and support throughout their lives.  
  
Comments  
 
We are pleased to see this petition debated in the Senedd, and are grateful to the Petitions 
Committee for its work on the petition to date. Furthermore, we are delighted that the Health and 
Social Care Committee will hold a Senedd Inquiry on the topic in 2025. 
  
We thank all those who supported and signed this petition. We thank Members from across the 
Senedd for their contributions to the debate, and it was encouraging to hear some acceptance from 
the Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Care of the concerns illustrated by the BMA Cymru 
Wales’s Save our Surgeries campaign, on behalf of GPs, their staff and patients across the country. 
However, there was little to suggest Welsh Government will be taking any meaningful action within 
the required timeframe to safeguard the future of General Practice given the focus remains on 
prioritising funding of secondary care and waiting lists.  This is regrettable and may destabilise the 
entire foundation of an effective NHS, free at the point of use in the future, if not addressed 
urgently. 
 
Two further issues have arisen over the last fortnight which regrettably will further impact on the 
financial viability of GP practices in Wales. 
 
  

1. Rejection of GMS Contract offer 
  
The Committee will be aware of the recent news that BMA Cymru Wales’ GP committee, GPC Wales 
voted unanimously to reject the Welsh Government’s GMS Contract offer for General Medical 
Services (GMS) for 2024/25. GPs in Wales will now be given the opportunity to vote on whether to 
accept or reject the contract in a referendum which will open later this month. 
 

• Read our press statement here 

• Read Dr Gareth Oelmann’s open letter to GPs in Wales here. 
 
 
 

Pack Page 85

https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=43223
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=43223
https://www.bma.org.uk/bma-media-centre/welsh-gp-committee-reject-contract-offer-and-hold-referendum-for-members-to-have-their-say
https://x.com/BMACymru/status/1853860386337866011


 

 
Page 2 of 3 

Sensitivity: Unrestricted 

Sensitivity: Unrestricted 

  
2. Impact of National Insurance Employer Contributions upon GMS practices 

 
Following the announcement of the latest UK Government Budget, the GPC Wales has commented 
on the detrimental impact increasing employer National Insurance Contributions (NICs) will have 
upon GMS services in Wales. On Friday 8 November, Dr Gareth Oelmann, Chair of GPC Wales wrote 
to the Cabinet Secretary to raise this issue. Read the letter here. 
 
Unfortunately, if not addressed, the above issues will result in wider matters raised by the petition 
getting worse. As such, the BMA Cymru Wales and GPC Wales will continue to call on Welsh 
Government to address the ever-increasingly urgent concerns raised in the Save our Surgeries 
campaign to prevent the further practice closures and restore and sustain general practice in Wales 
to support a Healthier Wales. We would wish to see a continued political focus on the plight of 
General Practice and thank the petitions committee for prioritising the petition for a debate.  
 
The BMA Cymru Wales will continue to keep the Committee, and its members informed of our 
ongoing work in this area and would welcome any opportunity to further brief Members of the 
Senedd who would like to support our campaign and amplify our calls to Welsh Government. 
 
 
Comment on the debate response from the Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Care 
 
 
We acknowledge the Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Care’s comments on the petition, in 
particular his recognition of the ‘concerning aspects’ highlighted by the Save our Surgeries campaign. 
 
The Cabinet Secretary stated surgeries in Wales see around 1.5 million people every month. It is in 
fact over 1.6 million appointments per month the equivalent of 50% of the population of Wales will 
receive an appointment at their practice each month. 
 
This contrasts with a monthly average of just 11,000 patients receiving care at the 16 Urgent Primary 
Care Centres (UPCCs) across Wales. In contrast to the UPCC initiative, which has received significant 
funding over recent years yet is not available in all parts of Wales and remains unevaluated, GMS 
provision offers universal, unfiltered, holistic and equitable care with the added value of improved 
continuity and relationship-based care. This undoubtedly adds value for money to investment in 
longitudinal GMS care.  
 
The staggering number of appointments being provided reflects delivered activity only and does not 
represent the totality of patient demand. Practices handled 29.1m telephone calls – approximately 
120k per working day – and 5.1m digital requests during 2023-24. Equally, it does not reflect the 
crucial business and educational functions practices must provide. 
 
While the BMA supports the important role of the multi-disciplinary team, and the investment which 
the Cabinet Secretary pointed out, we still need to train higher numbers of GPs to deliver upon the 
policy goals of A Healthier Wales, to deal with patient demands, and to accommodate the increased 
preference for less than full time working and portfolio careers. Compared to other NHS staff groups 
and other branches of medical practice, the relative headcount of fully qualified GPs has stagnated 
since 2009. There has only been a 1.8% increase in GP headcount since 2009, compared to a 44% 
increase in the total consultant headcount. As of January 2024, Wales needs 718 extra GPs to match 
the average number of GPs per 1000 population in other European countries. Restoring appropriate 
levels of funding and resourcing to General Medical Services, and ensuring we are recruiting and 
retaining GPs to work in Wales is a cost-effective investment into a sustainable general practice and 
the future of the Welsh NHS. 
 
The lack of direct investment into GMS has meant that since 2012, the total headcount of GPs has 
only gone up by 2%, with 23% fewer full-time equivalent GPs working at practices in Wales. Despite 

Pack Page 86

https://x.com/BMACymru/status/1854946510531604735


 

 
Page 3 of 3 

Sensitivity: Unrestricted 

Sensitivity: Unrestricted 

the figures, general practice has had to cope with a 35% increase in the number of patients per full 
time GP. 
 
Finally, due to the time restrictions on the plenary schedule, the Cabinet Secretary appeared to be 
cut off from finishing his response to the debate. We would welcome an approach to the Cabinet 
Secretary from the Petitions Committee to enquire as to whether there were other remarks he 
wished to make but did not have the opportunity to do so. 
 

Pack Page 87



Jeremy Miles AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol 
Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Care 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Jeremy.Miles@llyw.cymru 
 Correspondence.Jeremy.Miles@gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Russell George MS 
Chair 
Health and Social Care Committee 

SeneddHealth@senedd.wales 

4 December 2024 

Dear Russell, 

I am writing to update the Health and Social Care Committee about the action taken by the 
Welsh Government in response to the recommendations made by the committee following 
its general scrutiny session held with the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust (WAST). 

As set out in my oral statement and the technical briefing on 26 November, we have 
established a national group to review the appropriateness of emergency ambulance 
response measures and associated targets. It will focus on the quality and safety of the 
service, in the context of our NHS Wales Health and Care Quality Standards and NHS 
Wales Performance Framework.  

The group will rapidly review the available clinical evidence and provide advice about: 

• The appropriateness of the existing national target as an enabler for quality 
outcomes in the context of UK and internationally available clinical evidence 

• Whether the broader performance framework for ambulance services is in keeping
with the NHS Wales Health and Care Quality Standards 

• Whether recommendations are required for new targets or measures based on what
matters most to the public and the available clinical evidence. 

The group is predominantly made up of clinical experts in the field of pre-hospital 
emergency care and ambulance response. The membership is as follows: 

Jeremy Griffith (Chair) Director of Operations, Heath Social Care and Early Years, 
Welsh Government 

Stacey Taylor Chief Commissioner (Interim), NHS Wales, Joint Commissioning 
Committee 

Ross Whitehead Director for Commissioning Ambulance and 111, Joint 
Commissioning Committee 

Rachel Germine Assistant Director of Evidence, Evaluation and Effectiveness, 
Joint Commissioning Committee 

HSC(6) 45-25 PTN3 

Pack Page 88

Agenda Item 3.3

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Jeremy.Miles@llyw.cymru
mailto:%20Correspondence.Jeremy.Miles@gov.wales
mailto:SeneddHealth@senedd.wales


Liam Williams  Executive Director of Quality and Nursing, Welsh Ambulance 
Services University NHS Trust 

Andy Swinburn  Executive Director of Paramedicine, Welsh Ambulance Services 
University NHS Trust 

Rachel Marsh Executive Director of Strategy, Planning and Performance, 
Welsh Ambulance Services University NHS Trust 

Richard Bowen National Director for the Six Goals for Urgent and Emergency 
Care Programme 

Dr Tim Rogerson  Six Goals for Urgent and Emergency Care Programme National 
Emergency Care Clinical Lead/Emergency Department 
Consultant, Grange University Hospital 

Jennifer Winslade Executive Director of Nursing, Aneurin Bevan University Health 
Board 

Dr Anna Kuczynska Senior Medical Officer for Primary Care and Mental Health, 
Welsh Government 

Ryan Pike Head of Hospital Statistics, Knowledge and Analytical Services, 
Welsh Government 

Aled Brown Head of Emergency Care, Welsh Government 
Febe Ashley Urgent and Emergency Care Senior Policy Manager, Welsh 

Government 
 
The group will seek views from a series of expert witnesses, including Llais and third sector 
organisations, to ensure the public and patient voice is considered. National clinical experts 
for stroke, respiratory and cardiac conditions will also contribute. 
 
It is intended this work will be undertaken in context of the ongoing evolution of the 
ambulance service’s clinical response model, aligning with another of the committee’s 
recommendations about the introduction of clinical intervention and assessment earlier in a 
person’s journey. 
 
I will update the committee as this work progresses. 
 
Yours sincerely,  
 
 

 
 
 
Jeremy Miles AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol  
Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Care  

Pack Page 89



 

 

Andrew RT Davies 
Aelod o’r Senedd dros  
Ganol De Cymru  
— 
Member of the Senedd for 
South Wales Central  

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

AndrewRT.Davies@senedd.cymru 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
AndrewRT.Davies@senedd.wales 

0300 200 7233 

@andrewrt.davies 

@AndrewRTDavies 

/AndrewRTDaviesAM 

 

Russell George MS 

Chair, Health and Social Care Committee, 

Via email - SeneddHealth@senedd.wales 

Dyddiad | Date: 09.12.24 

Pwnc | Subject: Surgical Mesh 

Dear Russell, 

I’m writing to you following a recent meeting with a constituent who was affected by the surgical mesh 

scandal. I’m sure you’re aware that this issue was considered by Baroness Cumberledge and led to the 

publication of the “First Do No Harm” report in 2020. 

In view of my conversation with my constituent, please can I ask: 

Has the Health and Social Care Committee carried out any recent work or research on this issue. If so 

please could I be updated on the latest findings? 

If not, could I encourage that the Committee undertake a scrutiny inquiry into the impact on patients who 

are suffering ill effects of former procedures involving surgical mesh? 

I look forward to hearing from you. 

With kind regards, 

HSC(6) 45-25  PTN4 

Pack Page 90

Agenda Item 3.4



Dawn Bowden AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Plant a Gofal Cymdeithasol 
Minister for Children and Social Care 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Dawn.Bowden@llyw.cymru         
  Correspondence.Dawn.Bowden@gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref MA-DB-10882-24 

Russell George MS 
Chair, Health and Social Care Committee 
Senedd Cymru 

17 December 2024 

Dear Russell, 

Thank you for the Committee’s consideration of the amendments tabled to the Health and 
Social Care (Wales) Bill during Stage 2 proceedings on 28 November. I am pleased that the 
Bill has now moved to Stage 3. 

During the proceedings I sought to respond constructively to non-Government amendments 
to the Bill, even though I could not support the amendments as drafted. I wish to assure 
Committee Members that I am actively considering the points raised during Stage 2. For that 
reason, I have set out below how I am seeking to address concerns which I believe informed 
a number of the amendments tabled by Members.   

Amendments relating to eliminating profit from the care of looked after children 

Amendments 44, 56, 59, 60 (tabled by Mabon ap Gwynfor MS), and amendments 77 and 94 
(tabled by Altaf Hussain MS) 

A number of amendments were tabled to ensure that looked after children have access to a 
registered independent visiting advocacy service, particularly where they may be affected by 
the eliminating profit policy. I did explain during Stage 2 proceedings that local authorities 
already have a statutory duty to ensure that looked after children can access independent 
professional advocacy. This is set out in section 178 of the Social Services and Well-being 
(Wales) Act 2014 (the 2014 Act). In addition, under section 98 of the 2014 Act a local authority 
looking after a child is also required to appoint an independent person to be the child’s visitor 
if (a) the child falls within a category specified in regulations, or (b) in any other case, it 
appears to the authority that it would be in the child’s interests to do so. It is important not to 
duplicate these existing duties, not least because it could raise doubts about the intention, 
efficacy and application of the existing provisions. 

I do, however, understand Members’ concerns about looked after children’s awareness of the 
offer of advocacy, and that this is important if they are concerned that they may be affected 
by the provisions of the Bill. The Government engages with local authorities on advocacy for 
looked after children via a forum, and we will use this forum to explore with local authorities 

HSC(6) 45-25 PTN5 

Pack Page 91

Agenda Item 3.5

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Dawn.Bowden@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Dawn.Bowden@gov.wales


how they can further raise awareness and encourage take up of independent professional 
advocacy among looked after children.  
 
I should note that not all looked after children will want to take up the offer of an independent 
professional advocate – many children will wish to be advocated for by an adult they are 
already familiar with, such as a social worker or foster carer. However, it remains important 
that the offer of independent advocacy is accessible to these children. 
 
I also explained during Stage 2 proceedings that as part of our planned communications 
aimed at different parts of the sector, the Welsh Government has produced a draft document 
for children and young people explaining the key elements of the Bill and what it means for 
them. We are currently reviewing this with the Eliminating Profit Programme Board members 
and expect to publish this in the coming months. We will continue to work with those 
organisations that represent children and young people to ensure that their voices can be 
heard and ongoing communication needs considered. I will also continue to keep Members 
updated on this work. 
 
 
Amendment 45 (tabled by Mabon ap Gwynfor MS) 
 
During Stage 2 Mabon ap Gwynfor MS tabled Amendment 45, which sought to ensure that 
regulations made under paragraph 3(1) of new Schedule 1A to the 2016 Act cannot disrupt 
the care of any current looked after child with a provider operating under the transitional 
arrangements. During Stage 2 proceedings, I explained that while I could not support this 
amendment as drafted, it did align with our policy intention, and that I was happy to undertake 
to give the issue, and possible responses to it, further consideration in advance of Stage 3.  
 
I wish to reiterate my assurance that the Government does not wish to disrupt existing 
placements which have been made prior to the start of the transitional period. However, 
following further consideration, we have concluded that the current provision for a regulation-
making power in paragraph 3 of new Schedule 1A is appropriate and proportionate, and that 
an attempt to limit the power further would be highly likely to prevent the power from being 
used as intended; which is to ensure that for-profit providers are not able to expand their 
provision during the transitional period (except in cases where supplementary placements 
were made or there were other exceptional circumstances). 
 
I also want to emphasise that this regulation-making power is subject to the draft affirmative 
procedure, and so Senedd Members will be able to scrutinise and vote on any of these 
regulations before they are made, including satisfying themselves that the proposed 
provisions operate in accordance with the assurance I have given in this letter.     
 
 
Amendments 46, 47 and 48 (tabled by Mabon ap Gwynfor MS) 
 
During Stage 2 Mabon ap Gwynfor MS tabled Amendments 46 and 47, which sought to define 
“near to” in the 2014 Act (as amended by the Bill as introduced) as being in the area of a 
neighbouring local authority, and to limit such placements to exceptional cases only. Altaf 
Hussain MS tabled similar amendments. In addition, Mabon ap Gwynfor MS tabled 
amendment 48 which sought to require local authorities to take account of children’s wishes, 
views and feelings if they have determined that the most appropriate placement is in a local 
authority near to their local authority area, rather than within the local authority itself. 
 
As I explained during Stage 2 proceedings, I believe we all share the aim of ensuring that 
children are placed within their local authority area and close to home wherever possible but 
that this must not be at the expense of them having placements which best meet their needs. 

Pack Page 92



The local authority will need to consider a range of factors when deciding on the placement 
of a child under new section 81A of the 2014 Act (to be inserted by section 13 of the Bill).  
 
To assist local authorities in appropriately handling these issues, I committed during Stage 2 
proceedings to consider using a code of practice to be issued under section 145 to give 
guidance to local authorities on placing children within their local authority area or close to 
home, and to reinforce the importance of local authorities complying with their existing 
statutory duties around having regard to the views, wishes and feelings of a child they are 
looking after. I also committed to reinforcing the point about the importance of local authorities 
complying with their existing statutory duties in this regard, in further communications with 
local authorities. 
 
 
Amendments 50, 51 and 52 (tabled by Mabon ap Gwynfor MS) 
 
During Stage 2 Mabon ap Gwynfor MS tabled Amendments 50, 51 and 52, which sought to 
ensure that a supplementary placement cannot be an unregistered placement. As I explained 
during Stage 2 proceedings, the provisions of the Bill will only enable Welsh Ministers to 
approve a placement with a registered provider of children’s residential or foster care who is 
either subject to the wider transitional arrangements set out in the Bill, if operating as a for-
profit provider in Wales, or who is operating in England. The Bill will not enable Welsh 
Ministers to authorise an unregistered placement. 
 
To ensure that this is as clear as possible to local authorities, I committed that this position 
will be set out in guidance to local authorities to support operation of the supplementary 
approval process: this is likely to be in a code of practice to be issued under section 145. 
 
I also committed that the due diligence checks that Welsh Government officials will undertake 
when considering an application for approval of a supplementary placement will include 
checking that the provider with whom the placement is being sought is a registered provider. 
 
 
Amendments 57 and 58 (tabled by Mabon ap Gwynfor MS) 
 
During Stage 2 Mabon ap Gwynfor MS tabled Amendments 57 and 58, which sought to 
require notifications by providers and Welsh Government risk assessments during transition, 
and for local authorities to include in their annual sufficiency plans an assessment of the 
amount of accommodation required to meet demand (as set out in risk assessments 
published by Welsh Ministers). 
 
As I explained during Stage 2 proceedings, in my response to the Committee’s report, I 
committed to the publication of a six-monthly progress report on implementation of the 
eliminating profit provisions, with intended publication of the first report by 22 April 2025 (6 
months after the General Principles debate).  This report will include an update on the number 
of placements leaving the market and the number of new placements created, and will reflect 
on the stability of existing placements. For these reasons I did not consider that amendment 
57 was necessary.  
 
I did however commit to explore including within the six-monthly progress reports an 
additional requirement reflecting some of the spirit behind these amendments, in the form of 
a statement on new not for profit providers coming on-stream. 
 
Regarding Amendment 58, I explained that section 11 of the Bill already requires local 
authorities to consider and provide the information that would be covered by this 
amendment.  As such, I believed the amendment was not needed.  

Pack Page 93



 
However I committed to give consideration to including requirements for additional material 
enjoined in amendments 57 and 58 in the overall requirements for local authority sufficiency 
plans, such as a summary of provider intentions (so far as they are known). This will be 
considered as the Government develops its more detailed requirements for these sufficiency 
plans. 
 
 
Amendments relating to direct payments 
 
Amendment 78 (tabled by Altaf Hussain MS) 
 
Altaf Hussain MS tabled amendment 78, regarding a workforce planning duty relating to 
personal assistants. As I explained during Stage 2 proceedings, I could not support the 
amendment, but I have assured the Committee that the Welsh Government is already active 
in promoting the role of personal assistants, and in my written response to the Committee’s 
Stage 1 report, I accepted recommendation 23 that “The Minister should work with relevant 
Cabinet colleagues and wider partners to promote the role of Personal Assistant (PA), to drive 
up the numbers of applications and to improve retention of staff longer term. Appropriate 
training will be an important part of this work” and set out the action that the Welsh 
Government is taking to value and retain dedicated personal assistants in the workforce and 
to encourage more people to take up these roles. 
 
 
Amendment 88 (tabled by Altaf Hussain MS) 
 
Altaf Hussain MS tabled amendment 88, which sought to require the Welsh Ministers to issue 
guidance to local health boards on how to deliver direct payments, including provision in 
relation to having regard to the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with 
Disabilities. 
 
During proceedings I explained that I could not support the amendment as it did not work 
within the structure of the Bill. However, I committed again to ensuring that the importance of 
the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities is included in relevant statutory 
guidance for this part of the Bill, reiterating the commitment I made when accepting 
recommendation 26 of the Committee’s Stage 1 report.  
 
 
Amendment 54 (tabled by Mabon ap Gwynfor MS) and amendment 85 (tabled by Altaf 
Hussain MS) 
 
Mabon ap Gwynfor MS and Altaf Hussain MS both tabled amendments which sought to 
ensure that local health boards would be required to provide information, advice and 
assistance to those in continuing healthcare who are direct payment recipients. During 
proceedings, I explained that, whilst I was unable to support amendments 54 and 85 as 
drafted, I would consider an amendment to achieve the ultimate objective of these 
amendments, to mandate the provision of Information and support. I am pleased to confirm 
to the Committee that I will work with both Members to agree an amendment to the Bill to this 
effect at Stage 3. 
 
I hope this letter provides reassurance that I am continuing to engage with the points raised 
by Members regarding the Bill, and I look forward to continuing that constructive engagement 
in the New Year. 
 

Pack Page 94



I am copying this letter to the Chairs of the Finance Committee and the Legislation, Justice 
and Constitution Committee, as well as to Mabon ap Gwynfor MS and Altaf Hussain MS 
directly.     
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
Dawn Bowden AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Plant a Gofal Cymdeithasol 
Minister for Children and Social Care  

Pack Page 95



 

 

Cyfeiriad Gohebiaeth ar gyfer y Cadeirydd a'r Prif Weithredwr / Correspondence address for Chairman and Chief Executive: 
Swyddfa'r Gweithredwyr / Executives’ Office 
Ysbyty Gwynedd, Penrhosgarnedd 
Bangor, Gwynedd LL57 2PW Gwefan: www.pbc.cymru.nhs.uk / Web: www.bcu.wales.nhs.uk 

Mae Swyddfa’r Prif Weithredwr yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg a bydd yn sicrhau y darperir ymateb yn Gymraeg heb oedi. 
The Chief Executive’s Office welcomes correspondence through the medium of Welsh and will ensure that a response is provided in Welsh without incurring a delay 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Dear Chair, 

RE: Petition P-06-1350 Re-open Dyfi Ward at Tywyn Hospital 

Thank you for your most recent letter relating to Dyfi Ward.  I note the point that the 
Petitions Committee has discussed this petition for the fifth time on 30 September and 
that this is unusual, but I sincerely hope that from our continued correspondence you can 
see that the health board is doing everything it can to recruit and retain staff in this very 
rural area, and we share the Committee’s frustration that it is proving to be extremely 
difficult despite all efforts.  

How the service used to be provided  
Prior to the temporary closure of Dyfi ward in April 2023, there were 10 staffed beds within 
Tywyn Hospital.  Long term vacancies meant staff were working excessive hours over 
and above their contracted hours as overtime and often unable to take annual 
leave/cancelling annual leave to ensure safe levels of staffing for the ward.  Agency staff 
were unreliable and often cancelled at short notice which presented significant risk to 
patient safety. 

There was no Tuag Adref service, the Health Care Support Workers were all deployed 
on the ward.  There was no Minor Injury Service, as staff employed to work in the Minor 
Injuries Unit were constantly required to be in the numbers to provide safe inpatient 
staffing.  This had a negative impact on staff retention as staff were not working in the 
areas that they were originally employed to work, reducing the workforce even further.  
At the time of the decision to temporarily close Dyfi ward, there was a deficit of four Band 
5 registered nurses, one Band 6 Deputy Ward Manager and one Band 7 Ward Manager 
post.  Eighteen  months later there remains one Band 5 registered nurse vacancy and 
one Band 6 Deputy Ward Manager vacancy for the ward. Four Internationally Trained 
nurses have been recruited to work in Tywyn Hospital, however retention of staff in the 
area has proven difficult with a number of staff leaving to seek employment out of the 
area. 
Where services are currently being provided, and what are the numbers of in-
patients requiring the service.  

Ein cyf / Our ref: CS/CT(CE24/1102) 

:   01745 448788 ext 6382

Gofynnwch am / Ask for:   Emma Hughes 

E-bost / Email:  emma.hughes19@wales.nhs.uk

Dyddiad / Date: 23rd December 2024 

Carolyn Thomas MS, 
Chair,  
Petitions Committee,  
Welsh Parliament, 
Cardiff Bay, 
Cardiff, 
CF99 1SN   

By email – seneddCovid@Senedd.wales 

Bloc 5, Llys Carlton, Parc Busnes Llanelwy, 
Llanelwy, LL17 0JG 

---------------------------------- 
Block 5, Carlton Court, St Asaph Business 
Park, St Asaph, LL17 0JG 

HSC(6) 45-25  PTN6 

Pack Page 96

Agenda Item 3.6

http://www.bcu.wales.nhs.uk/
mailto:emma.hughes19@wales.nhs.uk
mailto:seneddCovid@Senedd.wales


 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
In response to not being able to safely open the Dyfi ward due to insufficient staffing 
numbers, the health board focussed on providing alternative models of delivery which are 
often used in more rural areas where  recruitment is a challenge.  These included 
providing health and care services directly in patient’s homes, working closer with care 
homes in the area to provide services for their residents to retain their place for a longer 
period, and enabling and providing the health support for patients to spend their last few 
weeks and days with dignity in their own home.  We have outlined these to the Committee 
in our various correspondence. They have been welcomed by patients and their families, 
care homes and the local authority.    
 
Additional inpatient beds have been opened in Dolgellau Hospital, now at 18 beds, an 
overall increase of 4 beds to accommodate the Tywyn demand. Some staff from Tywyn 
hospital have been deployed to support the additional beds. During this time, there have 
been 67 inpatient admissions from the Tywyn area. This represents an average of 3.5 
patients per month. 
 
Opening the additional beds in Dolgellau and temporarily redeploying staff from Tywyn 
has had a positive impact on length of stay for patients.  Prior to the closure of Dyfi ward, 
Physiotherapists and Occupational Therapists worked across both Tywyn and Dolgellau 
in patient wards.  Since the temporary closure of Dyfi ward, therapy staff have been able 
to provide increased levels of therapy support to patients improving their rehabilitation 
and recovery, and reducing the time needed for patients to remain in hospital. 
 
Additional community capacity has been created in the Tywyn area through implementing 
the Tuag Adref (Homeward Bound) service.  This service supports patients to remain at 
home, avoiding preventable hospital admissions as well as supporting earlier discharge 
from hospital, providing low level support and rehabilitation at home following discharge. 
Health care support workers who used to work on Dyfi ward were redeployed to provide 
the Tuag Adref service which receives an average of 7 referrals per week. 
 
Another service established since the temporary ward closure is the Treatment Room.  
This service provides a range of wound care and dressings as well as blood tests and 
catheter management, with a view to expand as training and competencies develop.  The 
establishment of this service has reduced demand on primary care as well as releasing 
District Nursing capacity allowing them to focus on the housebound and more complex 
patients at home.  The treatment room has been operational since July 2023 with activity 
in excess of 2,700 attendances.  
 
Without the need to redeploy staff from other areas to provide the minimum staffing levels 
for the inpatient ward in Tywyn, this has also allowed the successful reopening of the 
Minor Injury Unit. The MIU is currently open 5 days per week with plans to open 7 days 
per week and has seen activity levels in excess of 1,300 attendances since it’s reopening. 
The Health Board has been able to provide these high demand services due to the 
redeployed staff working closely with the community teams and the community itself. 

Pack Page 97



 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

It is also worth noting that the ward area within the hospital is in daily use, occupied by 
the Well-being Hub, Older People’s Mental Health Team, Flu and Covid vaccination 
clinics and Phlebotomy clinics.  In addition, there are a number of outpatients clinics 
provided by Consultant from both BCUHB and Hywel Dda Health Board, and an IV suite 
has been introduced. 
 
BCUHB staff have embraced the changes, having taken the opportunity to upskill and 
develop, with improved staff morale and team collaboration. 
 
What are the options for the future 
 
As the discussion at the Petitions Committee reflected, there is a need to work with the 
local community and its representatives, to consider what is the best model of service 
delivery for this locality moving forward.  There is no doubt that a safe and sustainable 
model of quality care is preferable to poor local care.  
  
In wishing to try to reinstate Dyfi ward, which the health board has always stated as the 
intention, all efforts have been focussed on securing the required levels of staff.  
However, we have seen over the last 18 months the real challenge of not only recruiting 
but also retaining in rural areas, as in our previous correspondence to the Committee, 
once we recruit we have seen staff who have chosen not to stay for various reasons. 
 
It is worth noting that, if and when recruitment is successful in securing the minimum safe 
staffing levels requirement for a 24/7 in patient ward, reopening Dyfi ward would 
undoubtedly impact on the health board’s ability to maintain other clinical services and 
community provision in the long term.  Vacancies as well as day to day absences (short 
and long term sickness/maternity leave/annual leave etc) would need to be covered  
which would mean that services such as District Nursing, Tuag Adref and Minor Injuries 
would be impacted (capacity reduced/service closed) as a consequence of trained staff 
from these services having to work on the ward to ensure the correct safe staffing levels 
required for the ward.  
 
The health board has had discussion with the local community of what are the priorities 
for local services.  The engagement workshop held in April 2024 identified a number of 
services which the group identified as lacking or could be improved upon in the area.  
These included in-patient beds provision, end of life care,  respite care and improved 
mental health support.  The workshop was attended by stakeholders including Cyngor 
Gwynedd, Tywyn Hospital Action Group, Local Town Councillors, Senedd Members, 
local nursing homes and Hywel Dda UHB.  Workstreams to address the key themes are 
being established with the Care Closer to Home workstream looking at developing safe 
and sustainable pathways of care for the local population.  This would include exploring 
closer working with the care homes and exploring the possibility of a hybrid model of 
working utilised in other rural areas. 
On 26 November 2024, Llais North Wales held a public forum in Tywyn, to explore the 
impact of the closure of Dyfi Ward had had on the patients of Tywyn.  Two sessions were 
held, one in the morning and one in the afternoon.  The forum was an opportunity for the 

Pack Page 98



 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

public to offer insights into the effects of the closure of the inpatient ward.  BCUHB staff 
supported this workshop and outlined what had been done to mitigate the closure of the 
inpatient ward whilst ensuring that the health needs of the people of Tywyn are met. 
 
Reflecting the discussion of the Petitions Committee and working closely with LLAIS, 
further engagement is now planned with the community in early 2025 to discuss a more 
sustainable way forward. 
 
Kind regards,  
 

 
______________ 
Carol Shillabeer 
Prif Weithredwr/Chief Executive 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Pack Page 99



Russell George MS 
Chair, Health and Social Care Committee 
Senedd Cymru 
By email SeneddHealth@senedd.wales  

19 December 2024 
Dear Mr George, 

On behalf of Tenovus Cancer Care, I am writing to you in your capacity Chair of the Senedd’s 
Health and Social Care Committee. I wish to draw to your attention our response to the proposed 
increase in employer National Insurance Contributions (NIC) and share the impact that it will have 
on the charity and its ability to provide services to people affected by cancer across Wales.  

We are deeply disappointed and frustrated at the lack of recognition of the devastating impact the 
increase in National Insurance Contributions will have on charities like Tenovus Cancer Care. We 
simply cannot sit back and take the hit. 

This increase will very likely force charities to make extremely difficult decisions – cutting services, 
reducing workforce, or both. Such cutbacks would not only harm the vulnerable individuals we 
support but also the NHS, which cannot deliver the services we provide at the cost-efficiency we 
provide.   

At Tenovus Cancer Care, we deliver essential services for people affected by cancer including 
counselling, nurse-led support, and benefits advice. This is provided free of charge, exclusively to 
the NHS. More than 10% of people diagnosed with cancer in Wales will use one of these vital 
services, that increases to nearly 20% in North Wales. Sadly, a third of those we support are end-
of-life, facing their most difficult days.   

We estimate this additional financial burden will cost us, at a minimum, a quarter of a million 
pounds (£250,000) annually. It’s equivalent to the cost of running our benefits advice service. In 
the last year, this service alone helped secure £4.1m worth of payments to 1,820 people with 
cancer across Wales. 

It is a misconception that all charities are cushioned by government grants or contracts. For many, 
including us, operations rely almost entirely on charitable donations. While we absolutely want to 
pay our staff fairly and anticipated the living wage increases, the scale of this NIC rise is 
unsustainable in the context of a challenging fundraising environment. 

We are a substantial employer, with 228 staff working across our 56 shops, head office, and out in 
communities across Wales. This decision also risks harming the foundational economy within the 
very communities we serve. 

HSC(6) 45-25 PTN7 

Pack Page 100

Agenda Item 3.7

mailto:SeneddHealth@senedd.wales


Despite the disproportionate impact of the pandemic and cost-of-living crisis on charities like ours, 
we received no bespoke support and were forced to make huge redundancies just to keep afloat. 
After working hard to recover, finally balance our budgets, and supporting public services, being 
told to absorb this increase is a bitter blow.  

Therefore, we are calling for: 

• The UK Government to reconsider the NIC increase for charities such as ours that provide 
direct support to the NHS from charitable funds and include us in exemptions as has been 
done for public sector organisations. 

• Welsh political representatives to advocate for us – and for others in our situation - across 
the Welsh third sector, and appeal to the UK Government for urgent action to protect vital 
services that people rely on, often at time of personal crisis. 

• The Welsh Government to mitigate the burden if UK exemptions are not forthcoming – an 
acknowledgment of the services we deliver free of charge to patients across Wales. 

 
I trust that my contribution is shared amongst members of the Committee and is taken into 
consideration as and when the Committee considers the impact of the up and coming Budget on 
Wales.  
 
I am happy and able to find the time to meet with you to discuss further.   
 
Please contact me via alison.partridge@tenovuscancercare.org.uk  to make arrangements or if 
require additional information.  
 
Yours sincerely, 

  

Judi Rhys MBE 

Chief Executive 

 

Pack Page 101

mailto:alison.partridge@tenovuscancercare.org.uk


Jane Dodds 
Aelod o’r Senedd dros  
Canolbarth a Gorllewin Cymru 
— 
Member of the Senedd for 
Mid and West Wales 

JaneDoddsWLDJaneDoddsWLD 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

Jane.Dodds@senedd.cymru 
— 

Welsh Parliament 
Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 

Jane.Dodds@senedd.wales

0300 200 6565 

@janedoddswld 
@DoddsJane 

/JaneDoddsWLD 

Dyddiad | Date: 24th December 2024   
Pwnc | Subject: Proposal for Inquiry into Gambling-Related Harm in Wales 

Annwyl Russell 

I am writing to respectfully request that the Health and Social Care Committee consider 
undertaking a short inquiry into gambling-related harm in Wales and its impact on public 
health and social care services. 

Recent data reveals a deeply concerning picture: 19% of all gambling premises are 
concentrated in Wales's 10% most deprived areas, demonstrating a clear pattern of industry 
targeting of vulnerable communities. The human cost is stark - new data from the Gambling 
Commission indicates gambling addiction now affects 2.5% of the population of Great 
Britain, eight times higher than previously thought, with clear links to suicide and mental 
health issues. 

While England has established 15 NHS gambling clinics, Wales has none - leaving an 
estimated 120,000 Welsh people struggling with gambling harm without access to 
specialized NHS treatment. This service gap is particularly concerning given that a survey in 
2018 found that gambling harms are three times higher in our most deprived areas. 

Key areas that would benefit from committee scrutiny include: 

1. The urgent need for dedicated NHS gambling treatment services in Wales, including
assessment of potential locations and required funding models. 

2. The effectiveness of gambling education and prevention, particularly given that 27%
of young people aged 11-17 have gambled using their own money in the past year, 
with reported impacts on sleep, school attendance, and academic performance. 

Russell George MS 
Chair of the Health and Social Care Committee 
5th Floor 
Tŷ Hywel 
Cardiff Bay 
CF99 1NA 

HSC(6) 45-25 PTN8 

Pack Page 102

Agenda Item 3.8



   
 

   
 

3. The concentration of gambling premises in deprived areas and potential policy 
responses within devolved competencies. 

4. The adequacy of current support services and their funding, noting that frontline 
support charities are severely under-resourced compared to industry marketing 
capabilities. 

 
A review at this time is particularly pertinent given the UK Government's recent introduction 
of a statutory levy to support gambling harm research, prevention, and treatment, alongside 
plans to impose limits on online casino customers' stakes for slot machines. This statutory 
levy presents a critical opportunity for Wales to align services with the UK framework while 
leveraging devolved powers in public health, mental health, education, and local government 
to take meaningful action. 
 
I would welcome the opportunity to provide any additional information that might assist the 
Committee in considering this proposal. 
 
Thank you for your consideration of this matter. 
 
Yn gywir, 
 

 
Jane Dodds MS/AS 
Member of the Senedd for Mid and West Wales 
Aelod o’r Senedd dros Canolbarth a Gorllewin Cymru 
  

Pack Page 103



 

 

 

 

08 January 2025 

Dear Russell, 

P-06-1480 Make menopause a mandatory part of the curriculum for all healthcare sciences and 

medical students 

The Petitions Committee considered the above petition, submitted by Nico Campbell, at its 2 

December meeting. 

The Committee agreed to keep the petition open pending the publication of the Women’s Health 

Plan, which launched on 9 December. Members also agreed that I would write to you as Committee 

Chair to refer the petition for consideration in scrutiny relating to that plan. You will note we made a 

similar request  in relation to an earlier menopause-related petition, P-06-1444 ‘Women of North 

Wales have the right to have a Menopause Services/Clinic in Ysbyty Gwynedd’, which we considered 

on 30 September. 

The Committee also agreed to write to the General Medical Council to seek more information on how 

it ensures that medical training includes menopause as a mandatory aspect. 

The full details of the Committee’s consideration of the petition, including the correspondence and the 

actions agreed by the Committee can be found here: P-06-1480 Make menopause a mandatory part 

of the curriculum for all healthcare sciences and medical students 

I would be grateful if you could send your response by e-mail to the clerking team at 

petitions@senedd.wales. 

Yours sincerely 

 

Carolyn Thomas MS 

Chair 

 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 

Y Pwyllgor Deisebau 
— 
Petitions Committee 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

Deisebau@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddDeisebau  

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
Petitions@senedd.wales  

senedd.wales/SeneddPetitions 
0300 200 6565 

Russell George MS, Chair, Health and Social Care Committee 

 

Pack Page 104

Agenda Item 3.9

https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=44753
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=44753
mailto:petitions@senedd.wales


 

 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Pack Page 105


	Agenda
	2 Welsh Government draft budget 2025-26: evidence session with the Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Care; the Minister for Children and Social Care and the Minister for Mental Health and Wellbeing.
	Paper 1 - Welsh Government Draft Budget 2025-26
	1. Prioritisation
	Unavoidable Demand Growth & Inflation
	Savings Assumptions
	Allocation of funding for 2025-26
	Other Budget changes in the HSC MEG

	2. Waiting times
	Comparing September 2024 referral to treatment (RTT) data to March 2024

	3.  Mental health
	Mental health and suicide prevention strategy
	Improving access to services and outcomes

	4. Workforce
	5. Primary care
	6. Service transformation
	Referral management
	Outpatient transformation projects
	Theatre productivity
	High Volume Low Complexity Surgery
	Eye care pathway redesign
	Implementation of waiting well services - the ‘three Ps’
	Digital pathology developments

	7. Prevention
	Health And Social Care Regional Integration Fund
	Vaccinations
	Screening

	8. Estates and infrastructure
	Digital, Innovation & Technology

	9. Health inequalities I
	Flying Start
	Speech, Language & Communication
	Families First Programme

	10. Health inequalities II
	11. Women’s health
	12. Assessing impact/value for money
	NHS
	Flying Start
	Social Care

	13. Health board’s financial performance and planning
	Update on financial position of Local Health Boards 2024-25
	Statutory Break-Even Duty 2022-23 to 2024-25
	Additional in-year financial support 2024-25
	Local Health Board allocations for 2025-26
	Welsh Government support

	14. Social Care
	Additional funding 2025-26
	Ensuring ongoing viability and stability of services
	Unpaid carers
	Sustainability of social care workforce



	3.1 Letter from Chair to Welsh Government to inform scrutiny of the Draft Budget 2025-26.
	3.2 Letter from Chair of Petitions Committee to Cabinet Secretary for Finance re. Petition P-06-1400 on fair and adequate resourcing of General Practice in Wales.
	3.3 Letter from Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Care re the Welsh Ambulance Services University NHS Trust (WASUT).
	3.4 Letter from Andrew RT Davies MS re surgical mesh.
	3.5 Letter from the Minister for Children and Social Care re. amendments tabled during Stage 2 scrutiny of the Health and Social Care (Wales) Bill.
	3.6 Letter from Chief Executive of Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board to the Petitions Committee re. Petition P-06-1350: Re-open Dyfi Ward at Tywyn Hospital.
	3.7 Letter from the Chief Executive of Tenovus Cancer Care re the proposed increase in employer National Insurance Contributions (NIC).
	3.8 Letter from Jane Dodds MS re proposal for an inquiry into gambling- related harm in Wales.
	3.9 Letter from the Chair of Petitions Committee re. Petition P-06-1480: Make menopause a mandatory part of the curriculum for all healthcare sciences and medical students.



